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145 Hunter Drive, Wilmington, Ohio 45177

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING

OF STOCKHOLDERS

TO BE HELD MAY 11, 2010

Notice is hereby given that the 2010 annual meeting of the stockholders of Air Transport Services Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
�Company�), has been called and will be held on May 11, 2010, at 11:00 a.m., local time, at the Boyd Cultural Arts Center/Heiland Theatre,
Wilmington College, 1870 Quaker Way, Wilmington, Ohio 45177, for the following purposes:

1. To elect three directors to the Board of Directors each for a term of three years.

2. To re-approve the business criteria that may be utilized in establishing targets for the granting and vesting of performance-based
awards under the Company�s Amended and Restated 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan so as to qualify the compensation attributable to
those awards as performance-based under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.

3. To ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of the Company for fiscal
year 2010.

4. To attend to such other business as may properly come before the meeting and any adjournments thereof.
We are pleased to take advantage of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission rule that allows companies to furnish proxy materials to their
stockholders over the Internet. As a result, we are mailing to most of our stockholders a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the
�Notice�) instead of a paper copy of this Proxy Statement and our 2009 Annual Report. We believe that this process allows us to provide our
stockholders with the necessary information while reducing our costs and lessening the environmental impact of the annual meeting. The Notice
contains instructions on how to access the Proxy Statement and Annual Report over the Internet. The Notice also contains instructions on how to
request a paper copy of the proxy materials.

The foregoing matters are described in more detail in the Proxy Statement that is available at http://www.proxyvote.com.

At the meeting, we will also report on the Company�s 2009 business results and other matters of interest to stockholders.

Only holders of record, as of the close of business on March 15, 2010, of shares of common stock of the Company will be entitled to notice of
and to vote at the meeting and any adjournments thereof.

By Order of the Board of Directors

/s/ W. Joseph Payne
Wilmington, Ohio W. JOSEPH PAYNE
April 1, 2010 Secretary
YOU ARE URGED TO VOTE AS PROMPTLY AS POSSIBLE BY USING THE INTERNET OR TELEPHONE WHETHER OR
NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE MEETING. YOU MAY ALSO REQUEST A PAPER COPY OF THESE MATERIALS, WHICH
WILL INCLUDE A PROXY CARD. THEN, YOU MAY VOTE BY FILLING IN, SIGNING AND RETURNING THE PROXY CARD
IN THE PROVIDED ENVELOPE.
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PROXY STATEMENT

AIR TRANSPORT SERVICES GROUP, INC.

145 Hunter Drive, Wilmington, Ohio 45177

ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS, MAY 11, 2010

This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors (the �Board�) of Air Transport Services
Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the �Company� or �ATSG�), for use at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held at the Boyd Cultural Arts
Center/Heiland Theatre, Wilmington College, 1870 Quaker Way, Wilmington, Ohio 45177, at 11:00 a.m., local time, on Tuesday, May 11,
2010, and at any adjournments thereof. Proxies may be solicited in person, by telephone or mail, and the costs thereof will be borne by the
Company.

The proxy materials, including this Proxy Statement, proxy card and the Company�s 2009 Annual Report, are being distributed and made
available on or about April 1, 2010. This Proxy Statement contains important information for you to consider when deciding how to vote on the
matters brought before the meeting. Please read it carefully.

In accordance with rules and regulations adopted by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the �SEC�), the Company has elected to
provide stockholders access to proxy materials over the Internet. Accordingly, a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the �Notice�)
will be mailed on or about April 1, 2010 to stockholders who owned common stock at the close of business on March 15, 2010. Stockholders
will have the ability to access the proxy materials on the website referred to in the Notice or request a printed set of the proxy materials be sent
to them by following the instructions in the Notice.

At the annual meeting, the holders of shares of common stock of the Company will (1) vote to elect three directors for terms of three years and
until their successors have been elected and qualified, (2) consider and vote on a proposal to re-approve the business criteria that may be utilized
in establishing targets for the granting and vesting of performance-based awards under the Company�s Amended and Restated 2005 Long-Term
Incentive Plan so as to qualify the compensation attributable to those awards as performance-based under Section 162(m) of the Internal
Revenue Code, (3) consider and vote on a proposal to ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public
accounting firm of the Company for 2010, and (4) transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting and any adjournments
thereof.

On December 31, 2007, ABX Air, Inc. (�ABX Air�) reorganized its operations into a holding company structure (the �Reorganization�) whereby
ABX Air became a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of ATSG (formerly ABX Holdings, Inc.), and ATSG became the public reporting company.
On that same date, ATSG acquired Cargo Holdings International, Inc. (�CHI�), which consisted of four principal operating subsidiaries, including
Air Transport International, LLC (�ATI�), Capital Cargo International Airlines, Inc. (�CCIA�), Cargo Aircraft Management, Inc. (�CAM�) and
LGSTX Services, Inc. (�LGSTX�). Throughout this Proxy Statement, when we refer to the Company in reference to activities that occurred prior
to the Reorganization on December 31, 2007, we are referring to ABX Air, and when we refer to the Company in reference to activities that
occurred after the Reorganization, we are referring to ATSG, except to the extent the context otherwise indicates. As a result of the
Reorganization, the common stock of ATSG replaced the common stock of ABX Air.

VOTING AT THE MEETING

Voting Rights and Outstanding Shares

Only holders of record as of the close of business on March 15, 2010, of shares of common stock of the Company will be entitled to notice of
and to vote at the meeting and any adjournments thereof. The common
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stock is the only class of voting securities of the Company currently outstanding. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote at the
meeting on all matters properly presented at the meeting. On March 15, 2010, there were 63,408,566 shares of common stock outstanding. At
the meeting, the presence in person or by proxy of a majority of the outstanding shares is required for a quorum.

Voting Procedures

Most stockholders have a choice of voting over the Internet, by telephone or by using a traditional proxy card. Please refer to your proxy or
voting instruction card to see which options are available to you and how to use them. The deadline for voting by telephone or over the Internet
is 11:59 p.m. ET, on May 10, 2010. If you are a registered stockholder and attend the meeting, you may deliver your completed proxy card in
person. �Street name� stockholders who wish to vote at the meeting will need to obtain a signed proxy form from the institution that holds their
shares.

Vote Required

Proposal 1: Election of Directors. The three nominees for director who receive the most votes of all the votes cast for directors will be elected.
This means that if you do not vote for a particular nominee, or if you withhold authority to vote for a particular nominee when voting your
proxy, your vote will not count for or against the nominee. If a listed nominee becomes unavailable, the persons named in the proxy may vote
for any substitute designated by the Nominating and Governance Committee; however, the Board of Directors at this time has no reason to
anticipate that this will occur.

Proposal 2: Re-approval of Business Criteria under Long-Term Incentive Plan. The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes represented at the
annual meeting, either in person or by proxy, and entitled to vote on this proposal, is required to re-approve the business criteria utilized in
establishing targets for the granting and vesting of performance-based awards under the Company�s Amended and Restated 2005 Long-Term
Incentive Plan so as to qualify the compensation attributable to those awards as performance-based under Section 162(m) of the Internal
Revenue Code. Abstentions will be counted as represented and entitled to vote and will therefore have the effect of a vote against this proposal.

Proposal 3: Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes
represented at the annual meeting, either in person or by proxy, and entitled to vote on this proposal, is required to ratify the selection of
Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of the Company for the 2010 fiscal year. Abstentions will be
counted as represented and entitled to vote and will therefore have the effect of a vote against this proposal.

If you properly sign and return your proxy card or complete your proxy via the telephone or Internet, your shares will be voted as you direct.
Unless a stockholder provides specific instructions to withhold votes from a nominee for director, the persons named in the proxy will be
authorized to vote the shares represented thereby FOR the election of the Board�s nominees for director. To the extent specific instructions are
not given with respect to Proposals 2 and 3, the shares represented by the proxy will be voted FOR the proposal.

Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker

Brokerage firms holding shares in street name for customers are required to vote such shares in the manner directed by their customers. If your
shares are held in a stock brokerage account or by a bank or other nominee, you are considered the beneficial owner of shares held in street
name, and these proxy materials are being forwarded to you by your broker or nominee which is considered, with respect to those shares, the
stockholder of record. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker how to vote and are also invited to attend the meeting.
Your broker or nominee has enclosed or provided a voting instruction card for you to use in directing the broker or nominee how to vote your
shares. However, since you are not the stockholder of record,

2
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you may not vote these shares in person at the meeting unless you obtain a signed proxy from the record holder giving you the right to vote these
shares. A �broker non-vote� occurs when a stockholder of record, such as a broker or bank, does not vote on a proposal because it has not received
voting instructions from the beneficial owner and does not have discretionary authority to vote on the proposal. The proposal for the election of
directors is not a discretionary item, so you must provide instructions to your broker in order to cast a vote on Proposal 1. We do not expect
broker non-votes on Proposals 2 and 3.

Revocability

You may revoke your proxy in one of the following ways: by voting in person at the annual meeting, by giving written notice of revocation to
the Secretary of the Company prior to the voting, or by giving a later dated proxy (including by means of a telephone or Internet vote) at any
time before the voting.

Confidentiality

It is the policy of the Company that all proxy cards, ballots and vote tabulations that identify the vote of a specific stockholder on any matter
submitted for a vote of stockholders be kept secret from the Company and its directors, officers and employees, except when (a) disclosure is
required by applicable law or regulation, (b) a stockholder expressly requests such disclosure, or (c) in a contested proxy solicitation.

Proxy Solicitation

Proxies may be solicited by directors, executive officers and other employees of the Company in person or by telephone, telegraph or mail only
for use at the annual meeting. All solicitation costs will be borne by the Company. The Company has retained Georgeson Shareholder
Communications, Inc. (�Georgeson�) to assist with the solicitation of proxies for a project management fee of $14,500, plus reimbursement for
out-of-pocket expenses. The Company may also engage Georgeson to solicit proxies by telephone for a reasonable additional fee determined on
a per-completed-call basis. All solicitation costs will be borne by the Company.

Proxy Tabulation

Proxies and ballots will be received and tabulated by an independent firm that is not affiliated with the Company. The inspector of election will
also be independent of the Company. Subject to the above exceptions to the confidential voting policy, comments on written proxy cards will be
provided to the Secretary of the Company without disclosing the vote unless the vote is necessary to understand the comment.

Separate Voting Materials

If you share an address with another stockholder and we sent you a notice of an intent to send you a householded mailing, you may receive only
one set of proxy materials (including our annual report to stockholders, 2009 Form 10-K, and proxy statement) unless you have provided
contrary instructions. If you wish to receive a separate set of documents now or in the future, you may write or call to request a separate copy of
these materials from:

Air Transport Services Group, Inc.

145 Hunter Drive

Wilmington, Ohio 45177

Attn: Patricia A. Wallace

Executive Assistant
Telephone: (937) 366-2296

Similarly, if you share an address with another stockholder and have received multiple copies of our proxy materials, you may write or call us at
the above address and phone number to request that in the future, we deliver to you a single copy of these materials.
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Principal Stockholders

To the Company�s knowledge, as of March 15, 2010, the following stockholders owned more than 5% of the outstanding common stock of the
Company:

Common Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

Name

Number
of

Shares

Percentage of
Common Stock
Outstanding(4)

Red Mountain Capital Partners LLC 7,882,230(1) 12.43 % 
Prescott Group Capital Management, LLC 7,112,892(2) 11.22 % 
The Pabrai Investment Funds 5,517,678(3) 08.70 % 

(1) Based on the Schedule 13D, jointly filed with the SEC on November 20, 2006, as amended by Amendment No. 1 thereto jointly filed on
September 24, 2007, Amendment No. 2 thereto jointly filed on February 7, 2008, Amendment No. 3 thereto jointly filed on December 3,
2008, Amendment No. 4 thereto jointly filed on January 6, 2009, Amendment No. 5 thereto jointly filed on February 3, 2009, Amendment
No. 6 thereto jointly filed on May 26, 2009, and Amendment No. 7 thereto jointly filed on June 1, 2009, by (i) Red Mountain Capital
Partners LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (�RMCP LLC�), (ii) Red Mountain Capital Partners II, L.P., a Delaware limited
partnership (�RMCP II�), (iii) Red Mountain Capital Partners III, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (�RMCP III�), (iv) RMCP GP LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (�RMCP GP�), (v) Red Mountain Capital Management, Inc., a Delaware corporation (�RMCM�), and
(vi) Willem Mesdag, a natural person and citizen of the United States of America. According to this filing, the principal business of each
of RMCP II and RMCP III is investment. Neither RMCP II nor RMCP III was formed for the specific purpose of investing in the securities
of ATSG. RMCP GP is the general partner of each of RMCP II and RMCP III and thus may be deemed to control each of RMCP II and
RMCP III. The principal business of RMCP GP is investment. RMCP LLC is the managing member of RMCP GP and thus may be
deemed to control RMCP GP and each entity directly or indirectly controlled by RMCP GP. The principal business of RMCP LLC is
investment. RMCM is the managing member of RMCP LLC and thus may be deemed to control RMCP LLC and each entity directly or
indirectly controlled by RMCP LLC. The principal business of RMCM is investment. Mr. Mesdag is the president, sole executive officer,
sole director and sole shareholder of RMCM and thus may be deemed to control RMCM and each entity directly or indirectly controlled
by RMCM (including Red Mountain). RMCP LLC, RMCP II, RMCP III and RMCP GP are sometimes collectively referred to herein as
�Red Mountain.� Red Mountain, RMCM and Mr. Mesdag are sometimes collectively referred to herein as the �Reporting Persons.� The
principal occupation of Mr. Mesdag is Managing Partner of Red Mountain. J. Christopher Teets (and his principal occupation) is Partner of
Red Mountain. Mr. Teets, a director of the Company, does not control any Reporting Person. RMCP II beneficially owns, in the aggregate,
4,706,082 shares of common stock. RMCP II has the sole power to vote or direct the vote, and the sole power to dispose or direct the
disposition, of all such 4,706,082 shares of common stock. RMCP III beneficially owns, in the aggregate, 3,176,148 shares of common
stock. RMCP III has the sole power to vote or direct the vote, and the sole power to dispose or direct the disposition, of all such 3,176,148
shares. The common stock beneficially owned by RMCP II and RMCP III, when aggregated together, total 7,882,230 shares. Because each
of RMCP GP, RMCP LLC, RMCM and Mr. Mesdag may be deemed to control RMCP II and RMCP III, each of RMCP GP, RMCP LLC,
RMCM and Mr. Mesdag may be deemed to beneficially own, and to have the power to vote or direct the vote, or dispose or direct the
disposition of, all of the common stock beneficially owned by RMCP II and RMCP III. Other than shares of common stock beneficially
owned by RMCP II or RMCP III, none of the Reporting Persons or Mr. Teets may be deemed to beneficially own any shares of common
stock. Each of RMCP LLC, RMCP II, RMCP III and RMCP GP affirms membership in a group with each other but disclaims membership
in a group with RMCM or Mr. Mesdag. Each of RMCM and Mr. Mesdag disclaims membership in a group with any person. This stock
ownership information was reported as of June 1, 2009.
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(2) Based on the Schedule 13G/A filed on February 12, 2010 with the SEC by Prescott Group Capital Management, LLC, an Oklahoma
limited liability company (�Prescott Capital�), Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap, L.P., an Oklahoma limited partnership (�Prescott Small
Cap�), Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap II, L.P., an Oklahoma limited partnership (�Prescott Small Cap II� and, together with Prescott
Small Cap, the �Small Cap Funds�) and Mr. Phil Frohlich, the principal of Prescott Capital. The Small Cap Funds are general partners of
Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap Master Fund, G.P., an Oklahoma general partnership (�Prescott Master Fund�). Prescott Capital serves
as the general partner of the Small Cap Funds and may direct the Small Cap Funds, the general partners of Prescott Master Fund, to direct
the vote and disposition of the 7,112,892 shares of common stock held by the Master Fund. As the principal of Prescott Capital,
Mr. Frohlich may direct the vote and disposition of the 7,112,892 shares of common stock held by Prescott Master Fund. This stock
ownership information was reported as of December 31, 2009.

(3) Based on the Schedule 13G/A, filed February 17, 2009 with the Securities and Exchange Commission (�SEC�) by The Pabrai Investment
Fund II, L.P., an Illinois limited partnership (�PIF2�), Pabrai Investment Fund 3, Ltd., a British Virgin Islands corporation (�PIF3�), The Pabrai
Investment Fund IV, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (�PIF4�), Dalal Street, LLC, a California limited liability company (�Dalal Street�),
which is general partner of PIF2 and PIF4 and sole investment manager of PIF3, Harina Kapoor, and Mohnish Pabrai, sole shareholder and
chief executive officer of Dalal Street and a shareholder and president of PIF3 (collectively, the �Reporting Persons�). According to this
filing, by virtue of the relationships between and among (i) Dalal Street in its capacity as the general partner and investment manager of
PIF2, PIF4 and PIF3, respectively, (ii) Mohnish Pabrai, in his capacity as sole shareholder and chief executive officer of Dalal Street and
as president of PIF3 and (iii) the other Reporting Persons, each of the Reporting Persons may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of all
or a portion of the Common Stock held by the other Reporting Persons. Because of the relationships described in the filing, the Reporting
Persons may be deemed to constitute a �group� within the meaning of Rule 13d-5 under the Act, and as such, each member of the group
would be deemed to beneficially own, in the aggregate, all the common stock held by members of the group. The Reporting Persons
disclaim membership in a group and disclaim beneficial ownership of any of the Common Stock except as follows:

Reporting Person
Common Stock

Beneficially Owned
The Pabrai Investment Fund II, L.P. 536,034
Pabrai Investment Fund 3, Ltd. 1,938,827
Pabrai Investment Fund IV, L.P. 2,840,000
Dalal Street, LLC 75,000
Harina Kapoor 4,101* 
Mohnish Pabrai 5,393,962** 

* Includes 1 share held by the IRA FBO Harina Kapoor.
** Includes (a) 4,100 shares held by Ms. Kapoor, (b) 1 share held by the IRA FBO Harina Kapoor, and (c) 2,400 shares held by the

Dakshana Foundation, a 501(c)(3) organization controlled by Ms. Kapoor and Mr. Pabrai.
Dalal Street and Mohnish Pabrai, in his capacity as chief executive officer of Dalal Street, have the shared power to vote or to direct the vote and
the shared power to dispose or to direct the disposition of the shares set forth opposite the name of each of PIF2, PIF4 and PIF3 in the table
above. Dalal Street and Mohnish Pabrai disclaim beneficial ownership of any such shares except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein,
if any. Mohnish Pabrai and Harina Kapoor share the power to vote or to direct the vote and the power to dispose or to direct the disposition of
4,101 shares set forth opposite their names in the table above. Harina Kapoor, in her capacity as account holder, and Mohnish Pabrai, in his
capacity as husband and advisor, have the shared power to vote or to direct the vote and the shared power to dispose or to direct the disposition
of the shares held by the IRA FBO Harina Kapoor. Mohnish Pabrai disclaims beneficial ownership of any such Common Stock held by the IRA
FBO Harina Kapoor except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein, if any. This stock ownership information was reported as of
December 31, 2008.

(4) Based on 63,408,566 shares outstanding.
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PROPOSAL 1

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company�s Certificate of Incorporation provides for no fewer than three and no more than nine directors, as determined from time to time by
the Board. The Company�s Board currently consists of eight members, divided into three classes as follows:

Class I (three positions with terms expiring in 2013):

James E. Bushman

Randy D. Rademacher

Jeffrey A. Dominick

Class II (three positions with terms expiring in 2011):

James H. Carey

John D. Geary

J. Christoper Teets

Class III (two positions with terms expiring in 2012):

Jeffrey J. Vorholt

Joseph C. Hete

At the annual meeting, three persons will be elected to fill the Class I positions, to hold office until the annual meeting of stockholders in 2013
and until their respective successors have been elected and qualified as provided under the Company�s Bylaws (the �Bylaws�). Messrs. Bushman,
Rademacher and Dominick are presently directors of the Company and have been nominated to continue as directors.

Nominees for Director�Class I (Terms to Expire in 2013)

James E. Bushman, age 65, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Cast-Fab Technologies, Inc., and the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of Security Systems Equipment Corporation. He has served since 2005 as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Cast-Fab
Technologies, Inc., a privately held manufacturer of castings and precision sheet and plate metal fabrications, and previously from 1988 to 2005
as the President and Chief Executive Officer. He has also served as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Security Systems Equipment
Corporation, a privately held manufacturer of equipment for the banking and financial services industry, since 1999. Mr. Bushman is also a
Director of the Ohio National Fund, Inc. and The Dow Target Variable Fund, LLC, and was until recently a director of the Midland Company.
He was the President of Carlisle Crane & Excavation, Inc., and the Executive Vice President of Carlisle Enterprises, from 1983 to 1988. Prior to
that, Mr. Bushman was a CPA for Arthur Andersen & Co., where he served as a partner from 1977 to 1983, and as a manager from 1972 to
1977. He has been a Director of the Company since May 2004 and is the Chairman of the Compensation Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee. Mr. Bushman offers the Board of Directors considerable business leadership experience and has a strong financial background
which aids the Board and both of the committees on which he serves.

Randy D. Rademacher, age 53, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, of Reading Rock, Inc. He has served as the Senior Vice
President, Chief Financial Officer, of Reading Rock, Inc., a privately owned manufacturer and distributor of concrete products, since May 2008.
Mr. Rademacher was formerly the Chief Financial Officer for The Armor Group, a privately owned manufacturer of industrial and commercial
products, from July 2006 to May 2008, and the President of Dynus Corporation, a privately owned telecommunications company, from June
2005 to October 2005. He also served as the President of Comair Holdings LLC, from 1999 to 2005. During his career at Comair Holdings LLC,
Mr. Rademacher also held a number of other positions, including Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from 1993 to 1999, Vice
President of Finance from 1989 to 1993, Controller from 1986 to 1989, and Director of Corporate Finance from 1985 to 1986. Prior to that,
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Mr. Rademacher was a CPA for Arthur Andersen & Co. from 1979 to 1985. He has been a director of the Company since December 2006 and is
the Chairman of the Nominating and Governance Committee and a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Rademacher has substantial experience
and expertise in the transportation industry from his service at Comair Holdings LLC. He is able to offer valuable insight on financial matters
because of his work experience and accounting background.

Jeffrey A. Dominick, age 45, Partner of MassMutual Capital Partners. He has been a partner with MassMutual Capital Partners, a private equity
investment subsidiary of MassMutual Financial Group, since its founding in 2006. Mr. Dominick formerly worked in debt and equity financing
for Babson Capital Management, the asset management subsidiary for MassMutual Financial Group. Before joining MassMutual Financial
Group in 2002, he spent 13 years in leveraged and corporate finance for Deutche Bank Securities and The Chase Manhattan Bank N.A. While at
Babson, Mr. Dominick specialized in investing in airline and aircraft related transactions, with a focus as well in the transportation and logistics
industries. In conjunction with the acquisition of Cargo Holdings International, Inc. (�CHI�) on December 31, 2007, the Company agreed to
nominate for election to the Board a candidate selected by the significant shareholders of CHI. Per this agreement, Mr. Dominick would have
been nominated for election at the Company�s 2008 annual meeting of stockholders; however, due to an existing vacancy, the Board chose to
appoint Mr. Dominick prior to the meeting. He has been a director of the Company since February 2008 and is a member of the Nominating and
Governance Committee and the Audit Committee. Mr. Dominick possesses specialized knowledge about the transportation industry and
experience with financing and credit arrangements involving the airline industry.

Continuing Directors�Not Standing for Election This Year

Class II (Terms to Expire in 2011)

James H. Carey, age 77, Executive Vice President (Retired) of the Chase Manhattan Bank. Mr. Carey served as Managing Director of Briarcliff
Financial Associates, a private financial advisory firm, from 1991 to 2002. He served as Chief Executive Officer of National Capital Benefits
Corporation, a viatical settlement company, from March 1994 to December 1995. Mr. Carey was until recently a Director, the Chair of the Audit
Committee, and a member of the Compensation Committee and the Nominating Committee of The Midland Company, a provider of specialty
insurance products. He was a director of Airborne, Inc. from 1978 to August 2003, and was a member of its Compensation Committee and
Finance Committee. Mr. Carey has been the Chairman of the Board of the Company since May 2004, and has been a Director since August
2003. He is also a member of the Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Governance Committee. Mr. Carey has played a critical
role in the oversight of the work of management in the conduct of the Company�s business since his appointment as Chairman of the Board. This
experience, coupled with his considerable financial acumen, provides him with an enhanced understanding of the challenges and opportunities
facing the Company.

John D. Geary, age 83, President and Chief Executive Officer (Retired) of Midland Enterprises, Inc. Mr. Geary served as President and Chief
Executive Officer, and also as a Director, of Midland Enterprises, Inc., an inland marine transportation company, comprised of barge lines,
shipyards and cargo loading terminals, from 1974 to 1988. He also served for 20 years on the Board of Directors of Fifth Third Bank, in
Cincinnati, Ohio. Mr. Geary has been a Director of the Company since January 2004, and is a member of the Nominating and Governance
Committee and the Compensation Committee. Mr. Geary�s extensive experience in the shipping industry has greatly assisted the Board of
Directors in its oversight of management�s operation of the Company.

J. Christopher Teets, age 37, Partner of Red Mountain Capital Partners LLC, an investment advisor, since February 2005. Before joining Red
Mountain Capital Partners LLC, Mr. Teets was an investment banker at Goldman Sachs & Co. Mr. Teets joined Goldman Sachs & Co. in 2000
and was made a Vice President in 2004. Prior to Goldman Sachs & Co., Mr. Teets worked in the investment banking division of Citigroup. He
holds a bachelor�s degree from Occidental College and an MSc degree from the London School of Economics. Mr. Teets has also served as a
director of Encore Capital Group, Inc., since May 2007 and as a director of Affirmative
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Insurance Holdings, Inc., since August 2008. Red Mountain owns approximately 6.3 million common shares of the Company, or approximately
10% of the Company�s 63.2 million shares outstanding. Red Mountain has been advising the management of the Company on strategic direction
since February 2008, subject to a confidentiality and standstill agreement under which Red Mountain was granted access to proprietary
information of the Company in exchange for its commitment to adhere to certain conditions, including a limit on its investment in the Company.
That agreement expired at the end of 2008. The Company and Red Mountain have signed a new agreement that will remain in effect during
Mr. Teets� tenure as a board member of the Company. He has been a Director of the Company since February 19, 2009 and is a member of the
Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Governance Committee. Mr. Teets strong educational foundation and significant business
experience help the Board of Directors better understand the financial needs and challenges facing the Company.

Class III (Terms to Expire in 2012)

Jeffrey J. Vorholt, age 57, is an independent consultant and private investor. He was formerly a full-time faculty member at Miami University
(Ohio) and concurrently an Adjunct Professor of Accountancy at Xavier University (Ohio), from 2001 to 2006. Mr. Vorholt, a CPA and
attorney, was the Chief Financial Officer of Structural Dynamics Research Corporation from 1994 until its acquisition by EDS in 2001.
Previously, he served as the Senior Vice President of Accounting and Information Systems for Cincinnati Bell Telephone Company and the
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Director for Cincinnati Bell Information Systems, which is now Convergys Corporation.
Mr. Vorholt served as Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee for Softbrands, Inc., a global provider of enterprise-wide application
software, from 2002 until its acquisition by Infor Global Solutions of Alpharetta, Georgia in 2009. Mr. Vorholt has been a Director of the
Company since January 2004. He is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and is a member of the Compensation Committee. Mr. Vorholt has
over thirty years of experience in accounting and financial management, and his knowledge and experience in that field make him a valuable
asset to the Board of Directors, particularly through his service on the Audit Committee.

Joseph C. Hete, age 55, President and Chief Executive Officer of ATSG since October 2007 and Chief Executive Officer of ABX Air, Inc.
since August 2003. He was the President of ABX Air, Inc. from January 2000 to February 2008 and the Chief Operating Officer of ABX Air,
Inc. from January 2000 to August 2003. From 1997 until January 2000, he held the position of Senior Vice President and Chief Operating
Officer of ABX Air, Inc. Mr. Hete served as Senior Vice President, Administration, of ABX Air, Inc. from 1991 to 1997, and Vice President,
Administration, of ABX Air, Inc. from 1986 to 1991. He joined ABX Air, Inc. in 1980. Mr. Hete has detailed knowledge of the day-to-day
operations of the Company through his role as Chief Executive Officer. He is able to keep the Board of Directors informed on the current state
of the Company by serving as a director.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND BOARD MATTERS

The Board of Directors held 11 meetings during 2009 and each director attended at least 91% of the meetings of the Board and 80% of the
meetings of the committees on which he was a member. Directors are expected to attend board meetings, meetings of the committees on which
they serve and the annual meeting of stockholders. All of the directors then in office attended the Company�s 2009 annual meeting, except for
Mr. Carey, who was unable to travel for health reasons.

Independence

The Board has determined that each of the current directors, except Joseph C. Hete (by virtue of his employment as President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company), has no material relationship with the Company (either directly or as a partner, stockholder or officer of an
organization that has a relationship with the Company) and is independent within the meaning of the independence standards of the SEC,
NASDAQ and the
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Certificate of Incorporation, as currently in effect. In considering the independence of Mr. Teets, the Board considered the fact that he is a
partner of Red Mountain Capital Partners, LLC, the owner of 12.43% of the Company�s outstanding shares, and concluded that his relationship
with Red Mountain Capital Partners, LLC does not impact his independence as a director of the Company.

Director Compensation

The Company uses a combination of cash and long-term incentive compensation to attract and retain qualified candidates to serve on the Board.
The Compensation Committee recommends to the Board of Directors for its approval the form and amount of compensation paid to the
non-employee directors. The Committee reviews the compensation arrangements of the directors on annual basis, which review includes an
evaluation prepared on an annual or bi-annual basis by Towers Watson, a national compensation consulting firm. The evaluation considers the
compensation arrangements for the directors of similar companies. Like the executive officers, the directors are also subject to minimum stock
ownership requirements. Each director is required to own stock and/or restricted stock units equal to a multiple of his annual retainer within a
specified time period after his election to the Board.

Cash Compensation

During 2009, non-employee directors received an annual fee of $30,000, plus $1,500 for each board and committee meeting attended. In
addition, the Chairman of the Board received an annual fee of $60,000, the Chairman of the Audit Committee received an annual fee of $15,000,
and the respective Chairman of the Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Governance Committee each received an annual fee of
$4,000.

Long-Term Incentive Compensation

The long-term incentive compensation awards for the non-employee directors are comprised solely of restricted stock units. Since the approval
of the Company�s Long-Term Incentive Plan at the Annual Stockholders� Meeting in 2005, the Board has granted restricted stock unit awards to
the Company�s non-employee directors on an annual basis under the terms of the Plan. The size of the grants are determined by the Board and are
based on the Company�s performance during the prior year and a periodic evaluation of the compensation arrangements of other companies
prepared by Towers Watson, a national compensation consulting firm, retained by the Compensation Committee.

Director Compensation Table

The table below summarizes the compensation paid by the Company to non-employee directors for the fiscal year ended 2009.

Name(1)CM™, nor any expectation that we will receive any government or commercial funding for TIICM™, or that our relationship with Analogic will result in a mutually acceptable formal business relationship agreement.

We have experienced significant losses since our inception. Losses for our three fiscal years ending May 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $1,411,644, $424,214, and $943,974, respectively. The net loss for our fiscal year ended May 31, 2003 was caused primarily by three factors: (1) unallowable expenses under our government contract, (2) rate ceilings; and (3) expenses during unfunded periods for SOCRATES™ research and development. With the reinstatement of the government contract funding in November 2002, the loss for our fiscal year ended May 31, 2004
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was caused by the remaining two factors: (1) rate ceilings during the first six months, and (2) unallowable expenses under our government contract. The loss for the fiscal year ending May 31, 2005 was caused by: (1) unallowable expenses, (2) expenses during a partially unfunded period, and (3) unreasonable expenses. The unreasonable expense category represents general and administrative expenses, primarily legal expenses and independent research and development expense which we believe are necessary but are significantly higher compared to prior years and may be considered unreasonable by the Defense Contract Audit Agency.

Our third consecutive and current government contract that we initially received on September 30, 2003 does not include rate ceilings. If the government deems our allowable expenses to be reasonable, of which there can be no assurance, the absence of rate ceilings should eliminate or reduce a significant source of losses in previous years. We will continue to incur certain unallowable expenses or allowable expenses the government deems unreasonable. We also remain subject to the risk of further delay, reduction or elimination in federal contract funding. However, it is our view that the elimination of rate ceilings is a significant improvement to our historical contract terms.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements that have been prepared according to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In preparing these financial statements, we are required to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We evaluate these estimates on an on-going basis. We base these estimates on historical experiences and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Our management has discussed these estimates and assumptions with our finance and audit committee. At this point in our operations, subjective judgments do not have a material impact on our financial statements except as discussed in the next paragraph.

Federal Acquisitions Regulations require that, among other things, our reimbursable costs are reasonable. We have analyzed our actual overhead rate of 69% and general administrative rate of 62% for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005. We believe all component costs have been ordinary and necessary but that government auditors may consider our legal expenses, independent research and development expense for UNICORN™ technology, and certain other general and administrative expenses as of the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005 unreasonable for a company our size. For rate setting purposes, we have excluded $500,000 for potential unreasonable expenses, which reduced the general and administrative rate to 41% for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005. Since there is a degree of subjectivity in the judgment of what levels of cost are reasonable, we can make no assurance that the government will not require further adjustments.
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Our financial statements and notes thereto include an item for "Other Receivables" that is described therein. Other Receivables includes recoverable rate differences resulting from the difference between the current adjusted general and administrative rate of 41% compared to our provisional rate of 29%, which has created a difference of $158,000 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005. In addition, $133,000 was the difference between the provisional rate and actual rate for fiscal year ending May 31, 2004 which brings the total recoverable rate difference to $291,000 as of May 31, 2005. We believe this amount will be recoverable along with other contract cost differences, some higher and others lower, when our sponsoring government agency has reviewed our request for contract cost growth which in total is approximately $218,000. Under our government contract, we are entitled to receive this amount as long as it is allowable and reasonable and the contracting officer approves the cost growth due to rate adjustments. The portion of other receivables represented by recoverable rate difference also reflects our judgment that we expect the government will have a funding source available to pay us the recoverable rate difference. This source may result from a reallocation of items within our existing contract to reflect actual expenditures, from use of funds available for a subsequent contract, or from reserve sources otherwise available to the government.

We have assessed our prospects for payment and based on the experience of our management under these procedures, we believe that we will receive these amounts upon final government review and audit of our contract. We therefore have recognized them as revenue, although ultimate collection will depend upon availability of one or more of the foregoing sources for payment, of which we can make no assurance.
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Results of Operations

FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the Years Ended May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004

May 31,
2005

May 31,
2004

Contract Revenues $    3,310,871 $    3,593,784

Cost of Revenues 2,233,773 2,392,166

Gross Profit 1,077,098 1,201,618

Operating Expenses

Research and development 557,137 170,832

Selling, general and administrative 2,001,871 1,390,801

Depreciation and amortization 125,660 88,053

Total Operating Expenses 2,684,668 1,649,686

Loss from operations (1,607,570) (448,068)

Other Income (Expense)

Interest income 223,586 39,749
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Loss before provision for income taxes (1,383,984) (408,319)

Provision for income taxes     27,660        15,895

Net Income (Loss) (1,411,644) (424,214)

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

     Unrealized (loss) on investments (44,522)  (119,501)

Comprehensive Income (loss) $(1,456,166) $(543,715)

Net Loss Per Share

Basic and diluted $       (.17) $       (.07)

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding

Basic and diluted 8,217,971 6,194,059

Revenues

. To date, our revenues have consisted almost entirely of revenues earned from our three successive SOCRATES™ wake vortex sensor research and development contracts with the federal government.

Contract revenue for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005 was $3,310,871, compared to $3,593,784 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2004.

The $282,913 decrease for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005 compared to the same period of the prior year was due to a period of partial funding during September, October and November 2004, our second quarter of fiscal year 2005. As of May 31, 2005, our contract receivable against our government contract was $415,617 as compared to $532,043 as of May 31, 2004.
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Costs of Revenues

. Subcontractor, consultant and direct labor expenses comprise our costs of revenues. Direct contract costs for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2005 was $2,233,773 or 67.5% of revenue compared to 2,392,166 or 66.6% for the same fiscal year ended May 31, 2004.

When our government contract is funded, charges to direct costs do not generally impact our operating income because each contract covers its own direct costs. However, during periods when our government contract is not funded or if the actual direct cost of a specific task order exceeds its budgeted funding and the government is not willing to reallocate direct costs between task orders, any such costs we may incur are not reimbursable and must be funded from our own resources.

Research and Development

. Our research and development expense for fiscal year ended May 31, 2005 was $557,137, compared to $170,832 for the same period ended May 31, 2004. The increase in research and development expenses of $386,305 in fiscal year ended May 31, 2005 compared to May 31, 2004 was primarily due to the increase of approximately $135,000 for salaries and wages and approximately $250,000 for consultants, travel and other miscellaneous expense primarily for our UNICORN ™ project. The increase for our UNICORN ™ project expenses were for the development of UNICORN™ antenna and radar components and a proof-of-principle test in August, 2005. In addition, in the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005, we began a research and development project for TIICM™ (Tactical Integrated Illumination Countermeasure).

Operating Expenses. Government contractors are required to categorize operating expenses as overhead expenses or general and administrative expenses. These two indirect "cost pools" are then divided by their appropriate "direct cost base" combinations of direct contract cost, which determines the contractors overhead and general and administrative rates. These rates, for our first two government contracts, were subject to ceilings, which were set at 70% for overhead and 20% for general and administrative. Our third contract is not limited by rate ceilings. Instead, we submitted provisional billing rates of 83% for overhead and 29% for general and administrative for our fiscal year ending May 31, 2005. These provisional rates were based on forecasted direct and indirect costs and were audited by the Defense Contract Audit Agency (DCAA) and approved by the DOT/Volpe Center on September 13, 2004. Our actual rates, for our fiscal year ended May 31, 2004, based on actual allowable costs incurred, were submitted to the government for audit on September 16, 2004. When our actual rates have been audited, we will adjust our government contract billings higher or lower to reflect the audited actual rates versus the previous estimated provisional billing rates. As long as actual costs are reasonable, of which there can be no assurance, we can include them in our actual rate and receive reimbursement for them. However, if the government will not approve an increase in contract funding to cover a billing adjustment that is higher than our provisional rates, we may not be able to obtain reimbursement for the increase. Our historical rates are shown below.
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Overhead Rates
General and Admin. Rates

For Year
Ended
5-31-03

89%
67%

For Year
Ended
5-31-04

80%
35%

For Year
Ended
05-31-05

69%
41%

The above rates for each of the previous periods include only allowable operating expenses and have been lower over the last two years due to increased contract funding and the increase in our direct cost base. We believe the overhead rate will average over time approximately 75%. We expect that our general and administrative rate which was 41% as of May 31, 2005, will be approximately 39% for our fiscal year ending May 31, 2006. We believe government auditors will consider a 41% rate reasonable, although we can make no assurance in this regard.

Our un-reimbursable non-contract costs include: 1) expenses considered unallowable per Federal Acquisition Regulations (FAR), such as lobbying, stock based compensation and company car expense, 2) over ceiling expenses, 3) expenses incurred during periods without government contract funding and/or 4) expenses the government considers unreasonable. These non-contract costs are not reimbursable under our U.S. government contracts and must be paid from other sources, primarily proceeds from the public and private sales of our equity securities. Non-contract costs have been the primary use of this source of liquidity and have had a significant impact on our operating loss to date. Our non-contract costs are detailed below:

For the Fiscal Year Ended

5-31-05 5-31-04

Unallowable expenses (1) & (2)
Over-ceiling expenses
Expenses during unfunded period
Potential unreasonable expense
    Total

$799,053
--

401,903
500,000

$1,700,956

$375,221
257,066

--
         --

$632,287

Notes:

(1)   Includes $109,964 of stock based compensation expense for the fiscal year ended 5-31-05.
(2)   Includes $62,959 of stock based compensation expense for the fiscal year ended 5-31-04.

Our total selling, general and administrative expenses consist of allowable and unallowable expenses and for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005 was $2,001,871, compared to $1,390,801 for the same period ended May 31, 2004.
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The increase in selling, general and administrative expense of $611,070 in the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005 compared to May 31, 2004 was primarily due to an increase in unallowable expenses. The unallowable expenses increase of approximately $425,000 was primarily due to increased legal fees for issues concerning intellectual property and class action suits, directors and officers insurance, company cars, investor relations and stock based compensation. The remaining increase of approximately $186,000 for allowable selling, general and administrative expenses was primarily due to increased salary and wages, employee benefits, directors fees and office rent.

Over-ceiling expenses for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005 were $0 compared to $257,066 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2004 because our third government contract received on September 30, 2003 eliminated rate ceilings.

Expenses during unfunded periods were $401,903 during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005 compared to $0 for the same period ended May 31, 2004 because most of our contract work was not funded during September, October, and November 2004. We received a contract modification for an additional $3.237 million in government funding on November 30, 2004. As a result, we expect to be funded through September 30, 2005 which should eliminate the unfunded operating expenses during the period of June 1, 2005 through September 30, 2005, the first quarter of our fiscal year 2006, although we can make no assurance in this regard.

After a review of our general and administrative expenses, we have determined that some of our legal, research and development and certain other expenses for the fiscal year ending May 31, 2005 could be considered unreasonable. Accordingly, we have excluded $500,000 for potential unreasonable expenses, from the calculation of our actual rates, for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our liquidity is primarily provided by revenue from our government contracts and proceeds from the sale of our equity securities.

Our third contract, titled Phase III SOCRATES®, is the third successive contract that we have received to continue work on our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor and was initially funded at $3.975 million. Between August 31, 2004 and November 30, 2004, we were negotiating a modification and extension of our Phase III Contract and during this period there was only partial government funding for SOCRATES® research and development. On November 30, 2004, Volpe approved a contract modification for additional funding of $3.237 million which we will use to expand our current SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor from its present four beam configuration to sixteen beams plus other improvements. Our funded contract backlog for the second part of our Phase III contract as of May 31, 2005 was $1.718 million.
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As of May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004, our cash and investments were $7,888,831 and $9,552,289, respectively. The decrease in cash on hand and investments of $1,663,458 was primarily attributable to the net losses for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005, capital additions, and the purchase of treasury stock and inventory during the fiscal year ending May 31, 2005. The purchase of inventory for $108,044 represents purchasing of long lead SOCRATES® system components to further expand to a 32 beam system.

As of May 31, 2005, we had other receivables of $330,010 compared to $194,479 as of May 31, 2004. The increase is primarily due to $158,000 of unbilled government contract receivables which represents the difference between provisional rates for overhead and general administrative provisional rates of 83% and 29%, and the actual rates for the twelve months ended May 31, 2005 of 69% and 41%, respectively, applied to our direct costs incurred in our Phase III SOCRATES® contract through May 31, 2005. We expect to recover the indirect costs represented by the unbilled contract receivable after we receive a contract modification for cost growth requested March 29, 2005 from the DOT/Volpe Center, although we can make no assurance in these regards.

We had total current liabilities, including accounts payable, of $769,653 as of May 31, 2005 compared to $757,170 as of May 31, 2004. Accounts payable as of May 31, 2005 were $589,313, which included $319,391 to our subcontractor, Lockheed Martin Corporation, and $269,922 in other expenses compared to accounts payable as of May 31, 2004 of $615,911, which included $412,329 to Lockheed Martin, and $203,582 in other expenses.

We anticipate that our funded contract balance for the second part of our Phase III contract of $1,718,258 as of May 31, 2005 will fund our direct contract costs and allowable operating expenses until approximately September 30, 2005. During this period, we have budgeted and expect to incur approximately $150,000 in non-contract unallowable costs and approximately $250,000 in research and development. During this period, we have budgeted and expect to receive approximately $100,000 in fees from our contract billing and approximately $75,000 of interest income. Assuming we operate within budget, as to which we can make no guaranty or assurance, we estimate our available cash and investments should be approximately $7,650,000 as of September 30, 2005. In addition, we have budgeted and expect to have a balance of approximately $7,000,000 as of May 31, 2006. Any acceleration or delays in the performance of these contracts by us or our subcontractors could, respectively, exhaust or extend our contract funding prior to or after September 30, 2005. In either event, we might be required to draw upon our cash before we anticipate which would reduce the foregoing estimate.

Our use of cash projections does not consider any additional contract funding we may receive from the Omnibus Appropriations Bill for U.S. fiscal year 2005 which contains a further $5 million appropriation to NASA specifically designated for continued research and development on project SOCRATES®. We expect to receive a contract for approximately $3.5 million of this appropriation if and when our sponsoring agencies approve a statement of work and issue a new contract for appropriate work orders to us, of which we can make no assurance. Prior to any new
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contract the government will request and we must submit a cost and technical proposal for review and approval of the government. As of the date of this report, we have not received such request and the timing for release of such request is estimated to be approximately August 31, 2005. Any delay in obtaining a contract extension also might require us to draw upon our cash to fund our operations.

From time to time, we may consider and execute strategic investments, acquisitions, or other transactions that we believe could benefit us and could require use of some or all of our liquidity. To facilitate such transactions and enhance our liquidity position for these and other purposes, such as working capital for research and development, we also may conduct from time to time various types of equity offerings, including, but not limited to, public or private offerings of common or preferred stock based on a negotiated fixed share value, or floating market price of our publicly traded shares. If we encounter delays in, or are unable to procure, contract funding from the U.S. government for further research development and testing of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor, incur costs over budget, or make a strategic investment, our cash resources will be reduced more rapidly than we presently anticipate. In such event, we may need to obtain additional capital to maintain operations. There can be no guarantee or assurance of our future ability to obtain capital for any of the foregoing purposes and, if obtained, the terms and conditions of such capital may dilute our present shareholders' ownership.

Known Trends, Risks and Uncertainties
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Our business and future success are subject to many risks. The following describes some of the general and specific trends, risks, and uncertainties to which our business is subject and should be read with care.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our limited operating history and lack of commercial operations make it difficult to evaluate our prospects.

Since we began operations in 1997, we have generated limited revenues solely from three SOCRATES® technology research and development contracts with agencies of the federal government that fund, administer, and oversee these contracts. The federal government has funded these contracts from earmarked U.S. Congressional appropriations to agencies that have awarded these contracts to us on a sole source basis without competitive bidding. Under these contracts, we are reimbursed for certain allowable research and development costs and are paid a fee calculated as a percentage of costs.
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We have not as yet received any revenue from the sale of any products. We do not anticipate receiving any such revenue unless and until our SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ or TIICM™ based products become operational, which could take several years. Our estimates of the market size for the products we are developing are based on many assumptions and uncertainties. These estimates are currently being evaluated by an outside consulting firm. The actual markets and price we can charge for our products, if and when we successfully complete their development, could be substantially less and our costs could be greater than our estimates. It therefore is difficult to assess our prospects for commercial sales, revenues and profitability.

We have incurred and, for the next several years, can be expected to incur operating losses.

To date, we have incurred significant net losses, including net losses of $1,411,644 for our fiscal year ended May 31, 2005 and $424,214 for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2004. We had an accumulated deficit of $4,295,881 as of May 31, 2005. We anticipate we may continue to incur operating losses for at least the next several years. We may never generate material revenues or achieve or maintain profitability. Substantially all our revenues have been devoted to payment of costs incurred in the research, development, and testing of our SOCRATES® or UNICORN™ technology. Our ability to achieve, maintain, and/or increase profitability will depend in large part upon the successful further development and testing of our SOCRATES®, UNICORN™-based, and TIICM™ products, Congressional appropriations and our ability to obtain additional federal research and development contracts for SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ and TIICM™ based products, approval of our SOCRATES®, UNICORN™-based, and TIICM™ products and systems by various agencies of the federal government, procurement of our products and systems by the FAA, airports and the aviation industry, and the availability of funding to finance such procurements.

Lack of future funding from the federal government to complete research and development of our SOCRATES™ wake vortex sensor could adversely affect our business.

Without notice to, or opportunity for prior review by us, the John A. Volpe National Transportation Systems Center of the U. S. Department of Transportation's Research and Special Programs Administration, or Volpe, circulated a report in October 2001 which recommended curtailing further government expenditure on our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor due to a high risk assessment of achieving operational feasibility. Because of this report and the events of September 11, 2001, the government did not fund our SOCRATES™ research and development contract from December 15, 2001 to November 19, 2002. Together with our major subcontractor, Lockheed Martin Corporation, we vigorously disputed and extensively discussed its assertions with Volpe and NASA. Subsequently, Volpe and NASA requested and we submitted a proposal for approximately $2.2 million of additional SOCRATES® technology

research, development and testing with an immediate objective of better characterizing the wake acoustics and background noise. We received contract funding for this proposal and subsequent
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proposals and we believe the federal government will continue to have a long-term interest in the development of a wake vortex advisory system and our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor for inclusion in such a system. However, the U.S. government may terminate our government contract at any time if it determines such termination is in the best interests of the government or may terminate, reduce or modify it because of budgetary constraints or any change in the government's requirements. Furthermore, the federal government has in the past delayed or reduced and may in the future delay, reduce, or eliminate funding for research and development of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor or the wake vortex advisory system as a result of, among other things, a reduction in support or opposition from supervising agencies or the U.S. Congress, changes in budgetary priorities, fiscal constraints caused by federal budget deficits, or decisions to fund competing systems or components of systems. If this occurs, it will reduce our resources available for research and development of our proprietary technologies, new products or enhancements to SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ or TIICM™ technologies and to market our products. Reduction of contract funding from the federal government could delay achievement of or increases in profitability, if any, create a substantial strain on our liquidity, resources and product development, and have a material adverse effect on the progress of our research and development and our financial condition.

The government will not pay us for SOCRATES® research and development if we do not perform on our contract.

We perform our government contracts pursuant to specific work orders from the government. Such work orders include, but are not limited to, analysis of data, research, development of our SOCRATES® technology, planning and conduct of testing, and preparation of various reports. If we do not perform the contracts in accordance with their terms, the government may withhold payment on our invoices that we submit monthly. Furthermore, if at any point the government considers a test to be a failure, it may cease to approve further work orders or fund further contracts. Loss of funding on our SOCRATES® contract would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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Our success depends on our successful product development and testing.

Our future success will depend upon our ability to successfully complete the development, testing, and commercialization of our technologies and our ability to develop and introduce new products and services to meet industry, government, and client requirements. We are planning to eventually develop a number of products, based on our SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ and TIICM™ technologies. The process of developing such products contains significant technological and engineering hurdles and is extremely complex and expensive. In 2001, Volpe and associated federally funded research centers prepared reports which concluded it was unlikely SOCRATES® would result in a sensor that could be used for any operational procedure and even for research because of technical unknowns relating to an understanding of wake vortices and the need to obtain acceptance of WVAS by controllers and pilots. We believe this
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conclusion was premature and based on an incomplete understanding of SOCRATES® and its operational potential. In our opinion, the testing and analysis we have conducted has increasingly supported this potential and resulted in the continuation of funding for our government contracts for research, development and testing of our SOCRATES® technology. However, there still are technical, engineering and program integration hurdles we must meet to develop SOCRATES® into an operational sensor, including, but not limited to, expanding the sensor to at least sixteen and as many as thirty-two laser beams, integrating the sensor into and with the other components of WVAS, and developing operating protocols for WVAS that define how it would be used by air traffic controllers and pilots. In the case of UNICORN™, we must successfully overcome development, engineering and testing hurdles to produce an operational product and obtain FAA approval of this product. Furthermore, we will need to extend the term of the experimental license the FCC has granted us and, ultimately, obtain a permanent license from the FCC for the operation of UNICORN™. We might not successfully complete the development of our SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ or TIICM™ technologies into operational products and our products may not be commercially viable. Our failure to complete development of any such products and achieve market acceptance would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, certain of our products will require customized installation to address unique characteristics of their environments. Customization could place an additional burden on our resources or delay the delivery or installation of products which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our relationship with clients, our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our success depends on federal government approval of our products and related systems.

The airport and aviation industry is subject to extensive government oversight and regulation. To introduce our SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ or TIICM™ based products for commercial sale, we must successfully complete research, development, and testing and obtain necessary governmental approvals for their installation. Upon approval by the Federal Aviation Administration, or FAA, our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor would be part of a multi-component wake vortex advisory system that also will require government approvals before it can be deployed. Any factor that delays or adversely affects this approval process, including delays in development or inability to obtain necessary government approvals, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations, and we can make no assurance when or if all such approvals will be obtained.

Our business relies on a strategic alliance with Lockheed Martin Corporation.

In May 1997, we signed a Teaming Agreement with Lockheed Martin Corporation to jointly develop and market SOCRATES® based products. This agreement will expire in May 2007, unless certain earlier termination provisions occur or the agreement is extended by mutual agreement. The agreement stipulates that we serve as prime contractor and Lockheed Martin Corporation as subcontractor in the development and any deployment of our SOCRATES®
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wake vortex sensor. Although to date we have generally worked in close cooperation with Lockheed Martin Corporation, there is no assurance that this relationship will be sustained. Future disagreements as to work scope, revenue share, profit margins, ownership of intellectual property, or technical, marketing, or management philosophy, could adversely impact the relationship. Since we view our strategic relationship with Lockheed Martin Corporation as a vital element of our business plan, any erosion of this relationship could have a negative impact on our business and future value.

On April 26, 2004, in conjunction with the renewal of a nondisclosure agreement, we were advised by Lockheed Martin Corporation that it owns a certain patent which predates our SOCRATES® patent and, according to Lockheed Martin Corporation, contains some intellectual property related to our SOCRATES® patent. Lockheed Martin Corporation has told us that it was prevented from previously disclosing the patent to us because of a government secrecy order. After consultation with counsel, including our patent counsel, we strongly believe that the Lockheed Martin Corporation patent will not impair the value of our SOCRATES® patent because our SOCRATES® patent is aimed at improving air traffic safety, a use not contemplated by the Lockheed Martin Corporation patent. Furthermore, it is our position that Lockheed Martin Corporation acknowledged and accepted our invention of the SOCRATES® technology in the Teaming Agreement between us in May 1997. We have met several times with Lockheed Martin Corporation to discuss the matter and potential opportunities relating to our SOCRATES® patent. To date, Lockheed Martin Corporation continues to disagree with our position. Nevertheless, we believe that management of both companies acknowledged the value and strength of the relationship and the desire to preserve it. We are conducting further discussions with Lockheed Martin Corporation on potential ways to expand and extend the relationship and resolve any intellectual property concerns. We cannot predict or provide any assurance on the outcome of these discussions and whether any outcome will be satisfactory to us.

We may need to raise additional capital.

While we completed a public offering in February of 2004 resulting in net proceeds of approximately $7.6 million, we cannot be certain that such financing will be adequate or sufficient for our future needs. We face many uncertainties with respect to research and development and the timing of commercialization of our SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ and TIICM™ based products, the availability and level of government funding, the FAA approvals required for our products, and the long sales cycle from initial customer contact to actual, if any, revenue generation. Depending on the outcome of these uncertainties, we might not be able to generate sufficient, if any, revenue or investment capital to fund our operations over the period of years we believe are required to commercialize our products. In each of our last three fiscal years, we have incurred substantial operating losses which we have funded, in part, with equity capital that we raised from new investors.
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We will continue to incur significant expenses for research and development and testing of our SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ and TIICM™ technology and may continue to experience such losses prior to commercialization and thereafter. If we cannot achieve commercialization of our SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ and TIICM™ technologies with the proceeds of our recent public offering or if we are unable to generate sufficient working capital from revenue from government funding or private contracts for these purposes, we might need to seek additional capital. In addition, other unforeseen costs and research and development costs of later generation SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ and TIICM™ based products also could require us to seek additional capital. We do not have any credit facilities in place and, should the need for additional capital arise, we may not be able to obtain sufficient, if any, additional capital or raise such capital on acceptable terms. If we need to obtain additional debt or equity capital, it may include our entry into joint ventures or issuance of additional securities, which may cause dilution to our current capital structure and stockholders' ownership. Additional securities also could have a greater priority as to dividends, distributions and other rights than our common stock.

For the life of our public warrants, the underwriter's warrants issued pursuant to our recent public offering, and our existing unregistered warrants, the holders thereof are given the opportunity to profit from a rise in the market for our common stock, with a resulting dilution in the interest of all other stockholders. So long as these warrants are outstanding, the terms on which we could obtain additional capital may be adversely affected. The holders of these warrants might be expected to exercise them at a time when we would, in all likelihood, be able to obtain any needed capital by a new offering of securities on terms more favorable than those provided by these warrants.
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Loss of key personnel could adversely affect our business.

Our future success depends to a significant degree on the skills, experience and efforts of our executive officers, Samuel A. Kovnat, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, William B. Cotton, President and Director, Frank L. Rees, Executive Vice President and Director, David D. Cryer, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary, and Dr. Neal Fine, Senior Vice President for Technology. The sustained unavailability of any one or more of those individuals for any reason could have a material adverse impact on our operations and prospects.

At a recent meeting of our Board of Directors, Mr. Kovnat and Mr. Rees announced their intention to retire on November 30, 2007. The Board intends to develop an orderly plan of succession to appropriately carry the company forward.

We anticipate hiring additional executive officers in the future. We may not be able to complete the hiring of these additional officers in a timely manner or at all. We also depend on the ability of our executive officers and other members of senior management to continue to work effectively as a team.
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Government regulation could adversely affect our business.

As a result of receiving contract funding from the federal government and our involvement in the field of aviation, our business and operations are subject to numerous government laws and regulations. In the near term, and for so long as we receive funding from the federal government, we will be subject to many procurement and accounting rules and regulations of the federal government. We are also subject to periodic audits by the Defense Contract Audit Agency, or DCAA. To date, we have incurred six audits by the DCAA, and reports have been issued to our government customer which has stated that we are performing in accordance with Federal Acquisitions Regulations. There is no assurance that any of the results or contents of any future audits will portray us favorably. These rules and regulations are complex in nature and sometimes difficult to interpret or apply. Adherence to these rules is reviewed by participating agencies of the federal government. If such agencies suspect or believe that violations of procurement or accounting rules and regulations have occurred, they may refer such matters to other enforcement divisions of the federal government, such as the U.S. Attorney's Office or the Inspector General's office. If we violate these rules and regulations, even if unintentionally, we may have to pay fines and penalties or could be terminated from receiving further funding from the federal government. If we market, sell and install our products in foreign countries, the laws, rules and regulations of those countries, as well as certain laws of the United States, will apply to us. Existing as well as new laws and regulations of the United States and foreign countries which regulate aviation and airports could also adversely affect our business.

Our success depends on our ability to protect our proprietary technology.

Any failure by us to protect our intellectual property could harm our business and competitive position. For example, although we have sought patent protection for our technologies, the steps we have taken or intend to take with regard to protecting our technologies may not be adequate to defend and prevent misappropriation of our technology, including the possibility of reverse engineering and the possibility that potential competitors will independently develop technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technology. Furthermore, any patent we have obtained or may obtain may subsequently be invalidated for any of a variety of reasons. In addition, even if we are issued a patent, we may not be able to gain any commercial advantage from such patent. Existing United States laws afford only limited intellectual property protection.

We intend to use a combination of patent, trade secret, copyright and trademark law, nondisclosure agreements, and technical measures to protect our proprietary technology. We intend to enter into confidentiality agreements with and obtain assignments of intellectual property from all of our employees, as well as with our clients and potential clients, and intend to limit access to and distribution of our technology, documentation and other proprietary information. However, the steps we take in this regard may not be adequate to deter misappropriation or independent third-party development of our technology. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary technology rights to the same extent as
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do the laws of the United States. If we resort to legal proceedings to enforce our intellectual property rights, the proceedings could be burdensome and expensive and could involve a high degree of risk to our proprietary rights if we are unsuccessful in such proceedings. Moreover, our financial resources may not be adequate to enforce or defend our rights in our technology. Additionally, any patents that we apply for or obtain may not be broad enough to protect all of the technology important to our business, and our ownership of patents does not in itself prevent others from securing patents that may block us from engaging in actions necessary to our business, products, or services.

Other companies may claim that we infringe their intellectual property or proprietary rights.

If our proprietary technology violates or is alleged to violate third party proprietary rights, we may be required to reengineer our technology or seek to obtain licenses from third parties to continue offering our technology without substantial reengineering. Any such efforts may not be successful or if successful could require payments that could have a material adverse effect on our profitability and financial condition. Any litigation involving infringement claims against us would be expensive and time-consuming, and an adverse outcome may result in payment of damages or injunctive relief that could materially and adversely affect our business.

Under certain circumstances, the federal government may be able to use our SOCRATES®-related technologies or other technologies developed with government funding without payment to us.

We have taken certain steps to preserve our rights in our SOCRATES®-related technologies under our contracts with the federal government. However, as is the case with all research and development contracts funded by the federal government, the Federal Acquisition Regulations provide that, under certain circumstances, the federal government may have paid-up rights to use, or have used on its behalf, our SOCRATES®-related technologies or other technologies developed with government funding. We do not expect that the federal government will attempt to use our SOCRATES®-related technologies without compensating us. Nevertheless, if the federal government attempts to exercise these rights, it is difficult to predict what effect, if any, it may have on us. If the federal government succeeds in exercising these rights, it may have a material adverse effect on our business operations and financial performance, which could negatively affect the value of our stock.

Our future customers, including the FAA, may not accept the price of or be able to finance our products.

At present, we cannot precisely fix a price for the sale and installation of an initial SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor at airports or UNICORN™-based collision avoidance systems in small aircraft or TIICM™ in commercial airliners. We estimate that the cost of our SOCRATES™ wake vortex sensor will be roughly $9 million to $20 million per airport installation, depending on, among other things, the number and configuration of runways. Due to developments in the market for general aviation collision warning and avoidance products and information we have
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obtained from our ongoing research, development and engineering of UNICORN™, we now expect the UNICORN™-based system could be more complex than we originally envisioned. As a result, we anticipate the wholesale price of this product could be substantially greater than the $10,000 price we have previously estimated. As we develop further information on the configuration and components of a UNICORN™-based system for general aviation, related production costs, and rapidly evolving competitive technologies, we will reassess the potential market for a commercial UNICORN™-based collision avoidance system for general aviation. Our current goal is to use and build on the UNICORN™ research and development we have conducted to date for application to unmanned air vehicles, if we can obtain government funding for this purpose. While we have had discussions with the federal government in this regard, it is still too early to assess our prospects for obtaining such funding. Because we have not completed the research, development, and testing of either product or received final approvals for either of them from the federal government, we have not commenced production or marketing efforts. We currently do not anticipate having these products ready for commercial sale for at least several years. We therefore are not yet in a position to gauge the reaction of potential customers to the pricing of these products or future products and whether such potential customers will be able to afford and finance our products.
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We believe that the increase in efficiency and safety to airports, airlines, and private aircraft resulting from our products will justify the substantial anticipated cost of sales and installation of these products. However, our customers' ability to afford such costs will depend, in part, on the health of the overall economy, the financial condition and budget priorities of the federal government, particularly the FAA and NASA, profitability of airports, airlines, and aircraft manufacturers, and the availability of private and government sources of funding to finance the sales and acquisition of our products. While a variety of potential funding sources exist, inability of the FAA, airlines or airports to access or obtain funding for purchase and installation of our products could have a material adverse impact on sales of our SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ or TIICM™ based products.

We may experience long sales cycles.

We expect to experience long time periods between initial sales contacts and the execution of formal contracts for our products and completion of product installations. The cycle from first contact to revenue generation in our business involves, among other things, selling the concept of our technology and products; developing and implementing a pilot program to demonstrate the capabilities and accuracy of our products; negotiating prices and other contract terms; and, finally, installing and implementing our products on a full-scale basis. We anticipate this cycle will entail a substantial period of time, on average between seven to twelve months, and the lack of revenue experienced during this cycle and the expenses involved in bringing new sales to the point of revenue generation would put a substantial strain on our resources.
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Our success will depend on our ability to create effective sales, marketing, production and installation forces.

At present and for the near future, we will depend upon a relatively small number of employees and subcontractors to complete the research and development of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor and pursue research and development of other SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ and TIICM™ based products. The marketing and sales of these products will require us to find additional capable employees or subcontractors who can understand, explain, market, and sell our technology and products to airports, airlines, and airplane manufacturers. We also will need to assemble new personnel and/or contractors for production and installation of our products. Upon successful completion of research and development, these demands will require us to rapidly increase the number of our employees, vendors, and subcontractors. There is intense competition for capable personnel in all of these areas, and we may not be successful in attracting, integrating, motivating, or retaining new personnel, vendors, or subcontractors for these required functions.

Our business could be adversely affected if our products fail to perform properly.

Products and systems as complex as ours may contain undetected errors or "bugs," which result in system failures, or failure to perform in accordance with industry expectations. Despite our plans for quality control and testing measures, our products including any enhancements may contain such bugs or exhibit performance degradation, particularly during the early stages of installation, and deployment. Product or system performance problems could result in loss of or delay in revenue, loss of market share, failure to achieve market acceptance, adverse publicity, injury to our reputation, diversion of development resources and claims against us by governments, airlines, airline customers, and others.

We could be subject to liability claims relating to malfunction of our technology.

Sale of our products will depend on their ability to improve airport, airline, and airplane safety and efficiency. We will take great care to test our products and systems after installation and before actual operation to insure accuracy and reliability. The FAA acquires air traffic control equipment for U.S. airports, and typically assumes the principal product liability risk for such equipment. However, unforeseen problems, misuse, or changing conditions could cause our products and systems to malfunction or exhibit other operational problems. Such problems could cause, or be perceived to cause, airplane accidents, including passenger fatalities. We may receive significant liability claims if governments, airlines, airports, passengers and other parties believe that our systems have failed to perform their intended functions. Liability claims could require us to spend significant time and money in litigation, pay substantial damages, and increased insurance premiums, regardless of our responsibility for such failure. Although we plan to maintain liability insurance, such coverage may not continue to be available on reasonable terms or be available in amounts sufficient to cover one or more large claims, and the insurer may disclaim coverage as to any claim.
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We face significant competition from other companies.

The air safety systems and air traffic control industries are already highly competitive. Other industry participants could develop or improve their own systems to achieve the cost efficiencies and value that we believe our products will provide upon successful completion of research and development. Additional companies may enter the market with competing systems as the size and visibility of the market opportunity increases. In addition, the government could cause us to compete against other companies for research and development or production and deployment of our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor, when and if we successfully complete its development. Many of our potential competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, substantially greater financial, technical, marketing, management, service, support, and other resources than we do. Therefore, they may be able to respond more quickly than we can to new or changing opportunities, technologies, standards, or customer requirements. Competition could reduce our revenues and margins and have a material adverse effect on our operations.

New products or technologies will likely increase the competitive pressures that we face. Increased competition could result in pricing pressures, reduced margins, or the failure of our products to achieve or maintain market acceptance. The development of competing products or technologies by market participants or the emergence of new industry or government standards may adversely affect our competitive position. As a result of these and other factors, we may be unable to compete effectively with current or future competitors. Such inability would likely have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

Rapid technological change could render our systems obsolete.

Our business in general is characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product and service introductions and enhancements, uncertain product life cycles, changes in customer requirements, and evolving industry standards which make us susceptible to technological obsolescence. The introduction of new products embodying new technologies, the emergence of new industry standards, or improvements to existing technologies could render our products and systems obsolete or relatively less competitive. Our future success will depend upon our ability to continue to develop and introduce a variety of new products and to address the increasingly sophisticated needs of our customers. We may experience delays in releasing new products and systems or enhancements in the future. Material delays in introducing new products and systems or enhancements may cause customers to forego purchases of our products and systems and purchase products and systems of competitors instead.
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Failure to properly manage growth could adversely affect our business.

To implement our strategy, we believe that we will have to grow rapidly. Rapid growth may strain our management, financial, and other resources. To manage any future growth effectively, we must expand our sales, marketing, production, installation, and customer support organizations, invest in research and development of new products or enhancements to existing systems that meet changing customer needs, enhance our financial and accounting systems and controls, integrate new personnel or contractors, and successfully manage expanded operations. We may not be able to effectively manage and coordinate our growth so as to achieve or maximize future profitability.

We must hire and retain skilled personnel.

Our success depends in large part upon our ability to attract, train, motivate, and retain highly skilled employees, particularly sales and marketing personnel, scientists, engineers, and other technical support personnel. Our failure to attract and retain the highly trained technical personnel that are integral to our direct sales, product development, installation, support, and professional services may limit the rate at which we can generate sales or develop new products or system enhancements, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

Any acquisition we make could disrupt our business and harm our financial condition.

We may attempt to acquire businesses or technologies that we believe are a strategic fit with our business. We currently have no commitments for any acquisition. Any future acquisition may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures, and may absorb significant management attention that would otherwise be available for ongoing development of our business. Since we may not be able to accurately predict these difficulties and expenditures, these costs may outweigh the value we realize from a future acquisition. Future acquisitions could result in issuances of equity securities that would reduce our stockholders' ownership interest, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities, amortization of expenses related to other intangible assets and the incurrence of large, immediate write-offs.

You should carefully read and evaluate this entire Form 10-KSB and our current SEC filings including the risks it describes and not consider or rely upon any statement, information or opinion about us that is not contained in this Form 10-KSB and our current SEC filings.

Certain statements, information and opinions about us have appeared and may continue to appear in published news reports, analysts reports, other media sources and our web site. Some of the information contained in these reports or sources may not be material to understanding our business or may be out of date, erroneous or inconsistent with that disclosed in this Form 10-KSB and our current SEC filings. In making a decision to invest in our securities, you should not rely upon any of these statements, information or opinions and should only rely upon, consider and carefully evaluate the information and risks contained in this Form 10-KSB and our current SEC filings.
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We currently are involved in an informal SEC investigation.

The staff of the SEC is conducting an informal investigation that appears to be looking into certain analyst reports about us and our press releases. To date, the SEC staff has not asserted that we have acted improperly or illegally. We have voluntarily agreed to cooperate fully with the staff's informal investigation. We believe that we have acted properly and legally with respect to these analyst reports and our press releases. However, we can neither predict the length, scope, or results of the informal investigation nor its impact, if any, on us or our operations. An adverse outcome, which we cannot predict, could negatively impact the market value of our securities and could divert the efforts and attention of our management team from our ordinary business operations.

We may suffer losses from various investments that we make and related market risks.

From time to time, we may make various types of investments which include, but may not be limited to, acquisitions of other companies, strategic transactions and joint ventures, repurchase of our shares, and general investment of our available cash in various types of debt and equity securities. Some of these investments, such as acquisitions or joint ventures, may involve a high degree of risk and we could lose the entire amount of our investment. Other investments are intended to be conservative, e.g., investment of cash reserves in high quality bonds or equity funds, but are subject to judgments about many factors beyond our control which can adversely affect these types of investments. For example, a rise in such interest rates will adversely affect the value of fixed income securities we hold and we may incur a loss of principal if we have to sell under such conditions. A decline in interest rates may reduce our investment income. We attempt to be prudent in making any of the foregoing investments, which are reviewed and approved by management and our board of directors. These types of transactions are necessary and important for the success of our overall business and our efforts to create value for our shareholders. However, we have suffered losses on certain of these investments and can make no assurance that we will not suffer losses in the future. Any such losses could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and cash available to support our operations and investment in research and development.

Risks Related to Investment in Our Securities

The price of our securities could be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations.

The market price of the securities of a pre-commercial, research and development stage aviation technology company, such as ours, can be especially volatile. Thus, the market price of our securities could be subject to wide fluctuations. In fact, the trading volume and price of our shares have fluctuated greatly. Subject to the information set forth in this Form 10-KSB, we are unaware of any specific reasons for this volatility and cannot predict whether or for how long it will continue.
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If our revenues do not grow or grow more slowly than we anticipate, we are unable to procure federal contracts for our SOCRATES® wake vortex sensor UNICORN™ or TIICM™ research and development, we encounter technical or engineering obstacles to the successful commercial development of SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ or TIICM™, our operating or capital expenditures exceed our expectations and cannot be adjusted accordingly, or if some other event adversely affects us, the market price of our securities could decline. In addition, if the market for aviation technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences a loss in investor confidence or otherwise fails, the market price of our securities could fall for reasons unrelated to our business, results of operations, and financial condition. The market price of our securities also might decline in reaction to events that affect other companies in our industry even if these events do not directly affect us. Furthermore, the sale in the open market of recently sold securities or newly issued securities, which we may sell from time to time to raise funds for various purposes, and securities issuable upon the exercise of purchase rights under existing options and warrants may place downward pressure on the market price of our securities.

Speculative traders may anticipate a decline in the market price of our securities and engage in short sales of our securities. Such short sales could further negatively affect the market price of our securities.

Litigation could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

Companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been the subject of securities class action litigation. We and certain of our officers and current directors are defendants in pending litigation (as described in "Part II - Other Information, Item 1. Legal Proceedings" of this Form 10-KSB) that alleges violations of federal securities laws. We firmly believe that the claims contained in the complaint are without merit and intend to conduct a vigorous defense in this matter. However, defending against existing and potential securities and class action litigation will likely require significant attention and resources and, regardless of the outcome, result in significant legal expenses, which will adversely affect our results unless covered by insurance or recovered from third parties. If our defenses are ultimately unsuccessful, or if we are unable to achieve a favorable resolution, we could be liable for damage awards that could materially adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

An active trading market for our securities may not be developed or sustained which could limit the liquidity of an investment in our securities.

There is a limited trading market for our securities. From January 2002 through January 29, 2004, our common stock traded on the OTC Bulletin Board, an inter-dealer automated quotation system for equity securities. The securities sold in our recent public offering, together with the shares that formerly traded on the OTC Bulletin Board, have been approved for listing and are currently trading on the American Stock Exchange. There is no assurance that we will be able to continue to meet the listing requirements and that our securities will remain listed on the American Stock Exchange. If we are delisted from the American Stock Exchange, an investor

49

could find it more difficult to dispose of, or to obtain accurate quotations as to the market value of, our securities. Additionally, regardless of which exchange our securities may trade on, an active and liquid trading market may not develop or, if developed, may not be sustained, which could limit security holders' ability to sell our securities at a desired price.

If any of our securities are delisted from the American Stock Exchange, we may be subject to the risks relating to penny stocks.

If any of our securities were to be delisted from trading on the American Stock Exchange and the trading price of such security remains below $5.00 per share on the date such security was delisted, trading in such security would also be subject to the requirements of certain rules promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These rules require additional disclosure by broker-dealers in connection with any trades involving a security defined as a penny stock and impose various sales practice requirements on broker-dealers who sell penny stocks to persons other than established customers and accredited investors, generally institutions. The additional burdens imposed upon broker-dealers by such requirements may discourage broker-dealers from effecting transactions in our securities, which could severely limit the market price and liquidity of such securities and the ability of purchasers to sell our securities in the secondary market. A penny stock is defined generally as any non-exchange listed equity security that has a market price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions.

A large number of shares may be sold in the market following our recent public offering which may cause the price of our securities to decline.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock or other securities in the public markets, or the perception that these sales may occur, could cause the market price of our common stock or other securities to decline and could materially impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional securities. We have 8,215,110 shares of our common stock outstanding. Of our outstanding shares, 6,566,475 are eligible for public trading. Of our restricted shares, 98,044 will be eligible for public trading after June 27, 2005.

Certain events could result in a dilution of your ownership of our common stock.

We currently have 8,215,110 shares of common stock outstanding and an aggregate of 2,989,993 warrants and options. The exercise price of all of our common stock equivalents ranges from $3.30 to $6.00 per share of common stock. Some of these warrants and options may provide antidilution protection to their holders which would result in our issuance of shares in addition to those under the warrant or option, upon the occurrence of sales of our common stock below certain prices, stock splits, redemptions, mergers, and other similar transactions. Furthermore, from time to time we may issue additional shares of common stock in private or public transactions to raise funds for working capital, research and development, acquisitions, or other purposes. If one or more of these events occurs, the number of outstanding shares of our common stock would increase and dilute your percentage ownership of our common stock.
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If we do not maintain an effective registration statement or comply with applicable state securities laws, you may not be able to exercise our public warrants.

For any holder to be able to exercise our public warrants, the shares of our common stock underlying the public warrants must be covered by an effective and current registration statement and qualify or be exempt under the securities laws of the state or other jurisdiction in which you live. We cannot assure you that we will continue to maintain a current registration statement relating to the shares of our common stock underlying our public warrants or that an exemption from registration or qualification will be available throughout their term. This may have an adverse effect on demand for our public warrants and the prices that can be obtained from reselling them.

Our public warrants may be redeemed on short notice. This may have an adverse impact on their price.

We may redeem our public warrants for $0.25 per warrant, subject to adjustment in the event of a stock split, dividend or the like, upon 30 days' notice so long as the last reported sale price per share of our common stock as reported by the principal exchange or trading market on which our common stock trades equals or exceeds $10.00 (subject to adjustment) for twenty consecutive trading days ending on the tenth day prior to the date we give notice of redemption. If we give notice of redemption, holders of our public warrants will be forced to sell or exercise the public warrants they hold or accept the redemption price. The notice of redemption could come at a time when, under specific circumstances or generally, it is not advisable or possible to sell or exercise our public warrants.
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Our officers, directors and 5% stockholders will exercise significant control over us.

Our current officers, directors and 5% stockholders, in the aggregate, control approximately 33.65% of our outstanding common stock (including common stock issuable to such person or group within 60 days after May 31, 2005). As a result, these stockholders acting together will be able to exert significant control over matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors, approval of mergers, and other significant corporate transactions. This concentration of ownership could delay, prevent, or deter a change in control, and could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their stock as part of a sale of us and could affect the market price of our stock.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends.

We have never paid cash dividends on our stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
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We may spend our funds in ways with which our stockholders may not agree.

The use of proceeds description from our recent public offering reflected our then-current planning and was only an estimate that is subject to change in our discretion. Furthermore, a substantial portion of the net proceeds from our recent public offering was not allocated for specific uses. Consequently, our management can spend our funds in ways with which our stockholders may not agree. We cannot predict that our funds will be invested or otherwise utilized to yield a favorable return.

Item 7. Financial Statements.

The audited financial statements are annexed to this report, commencing on page F-1.

Item 8. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

Effective October 3, 2002, we terminated our then current accountant, Quintanilla, a Professional Accounting Corporation, and engaged Kostin, Ruffkess & Company, LLC, which has offices in Farmington and New London, Connecticut, as our principal independent public accountant. The decision to engage Kostin, Ruffkess & Company, LLC was made by our Finance and Audit Committee in accordance with Section 301 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The decision was based on a relocation of our principal place of business from California to Connecticut.

We had not previously consulted with Kostin, Ruffkess & Company, LLC regarding the application of accounting principles to a specific completed or contemplated transaction, or the type of audit opinion which might be rendered on our financial statements, and no written or oral advice was provided to us concluding there was an important factor to be considered by us in reaching a decision as to an accounting, auditing, or financial reporting issue. Neither did we discuss with Kostin, Ruffkess & Company, LLC any accounting, auditing, or financial reporting issue that was a subject of disagreement between us and Quintanilla, our previous independent accountants, as there were no such disagreements.

Effective February 10, 2005 we replaced Kostin, Ruffkess & Company with Wolf & Company, P.C. The decision to use Wolf & Company as our independent public accountant has been approved by the Audit and Finance Committee of our board of directors.

Kostin's reports on our financial statements did not contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, nor were they qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles.
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In connection with their audit for our fiscal year ending May 31, 2004 and up to the date of termination, which was the result of Kostin & Ruffkess ceasing operations with respect to public companies, there were no disagreements with Kostin on any matters of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure of auditing scope or procedure, which disagreement(s), if not resolved to the satisfaction of Kostin would have caused Kostin to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreement(s) in connection with its report on our financial statements. Since Kostin's engagement as our accountant on October 3, 2002, there have been no reportable events as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-B. We have authorized Kostin to respond fully to any inquiries of our new auditors relating to their engagement as our independent accountant. We previously provided Kostin with a copy of this report on Form 8-K and have furnished the letter from Kostin attached hereto as Exhibit 99.2, in which Kostin states it agrees with the preceding statements, to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

We have not previously consulted with Wolf & Company regarding the application of accounting principles to a specific completed or contemplated transaction, or the type of audit opinion which might be rendered on our financial statements, and no written or oral advice was provided to us concluding there was an important factor to be considered by us in reaching a decision as to an accounting, auditing, or financial reporting issue. Neither did we discuss with Wolf & Company any accounting, auditing, or financial reporting issue that was a subject of disagreement between us and Kostin, as there were no such disagreements.

Item 8A. Controls and Procedures.

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

. Our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have reviewed and evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act")) as of the end of the period
covered by this annual report. Based on that evaluation, the chief executive officer and chief
financial officer have concluded that our current disclosure controls and procedures are effective to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act are recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified
in the Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.

(b) Changes in internal controls

. There have not been any significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could
significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation. There were no
significant deficiencies or material weakness in the internal controls, and therefore no corrective
actions were taken.

Item 8B. Other Information.

None
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PART III

Item 9. Directors, Executive Officers, Promoters and Control Persons; Compliance With Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act.

Information about our Directors is incorporated by reference from the information under the caption "Proposal No. 2 - Election of Directors" and "Section 16 Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" in our Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed on or before September 28, 2005.

Item 10. Executive Compensation.

Incorporated by reference from the information under the caption "Executive and Director Compensation" in our Proxy Statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed on or before September 28, 2005.

Edgar Filing: Air Transport Services Group, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents 31



Item 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Incorporated by reference from the information under the caption "Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners, the Board of Directors, and Executive Officers" in our Proxy Statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed on or before September 28, 2005.

Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

Incorporated by reference from the information under the captions "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" in our Proxy Statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed on or before September 28, 2005.
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Item 13. Exhibits.

Exhibit
No. Description
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3.1
3.2
10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5
10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

23.1
23.2
31.1

31.2

32.1

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (1)
By-Laws (2)
Employment Agreement effective as of November 4, 2003, between Flight Safety Technologies,
Inc.
   and Samuel A. Kovnat (3)
Employment Agreement effective as of November 4, 2003, between Flight Safety Technologies,
Inc.
   and William B. Cotton (4)
Employment Agreement effective as of November 4, 2003, between Flight Safety Technologies,
Inc.
   and David D. Cryer (5)
Employment Agreement effective as of November 4, 2003, between Flight Safety Technologies,
Inc.
   and Frank L. Rees (6)
Teaming Agreement dated May 1, 1997, by and between FSTO and Lockheed Martin Corporation
(7)
Share Exchange Agreement between Reel Staff, Inc. and Flight Safety Technologies, Inc.,
   dated June 24, 2002, as amended July 15, 2002 (8)
Cost Reimbursement Research Project Agreement between Flight Safety Technologies, Inc.
   and Georgia Tech Applied Research Corporation (9)
Phase III Contract issued by U.S. Department of Transportation/RSPA/Volpe Center,
   dated September 30, 2003 (10)
Agreement between Flight Safety Technologies, Inc. and Advanced Acoustics Concepts, Inc.,
   dated January 14, 2000 (11)
*Consent of Kostin, Ruffkess & Company, LLC
*Consent of Wolf & Company, P.C.
*Chief Executive Officer Certification as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act
   of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
*Chief Financial Officer Certification as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act
   of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
*Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).

*Submitted herewith

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 on our Form 10-QSB, which was filed on April 6,
2004.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 on our Form SB-2, which was filed on August 9, 2001.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 on our Form SB-2/A, which was filed on January 29,
2004.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 on our Form SB-2/A, which was filed on January 29,
2004.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 on our Form SB-2/A, which was filed on January 29,
2004.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 on our Form 10-QSB, which was filed on April 6,
2004.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 on our 8-KA, which was filed on November 6, 2002.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 on our Form 8-K, which was filed on July 18, 2002.
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 on our Form SB-2/A, which was filed on November
26, 2003.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 on our Form SB-2/A, which was filed on November
26, 2003.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 on our Form SB-2/A, which was filed on November
26, 2003.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Incorporated by reference from the information under the captions "Audit and Related Fees" in our Proxy Statement for the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed on or before September 28, 2005.

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Flight Safety Technologies, Inc.
a Nevada corporation

August 26, 2005 By:

Samuel A. Kovnat
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Samuel A. Kovnat, his attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Report on Form 10-KSB, and to file the same, with Exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURES

Signature Date
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/s/ William B. Cotton August 26, 2005

William B. Cotton, Director, President

/s/ Frank L. Rees August 26, 2005

Frank L. Rees, Director, Executive Vice President

/s/ David D. Cryer August 26, 2005

David D. Cryer, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, Treasurer

/s/ Kenneth S. Wood August 26, 2005

Kenneth S. Wood, Director

/s/ Jackson Kemper August 26, 2005

Jackson Kemper, Director

/s/ Larry L. Pressler August 26, 2005

Larry L. Pressler, Director

/s/ Joseph J. Luca August 26, 2005

Joseph J. Luca, Director
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FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Financial Statements

May 31, 2005
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To The Board of Directors
Flight Safety Technologies, Inc.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Flight Safety Technologies, Inc.
Mystic, Connecticut

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Flight Safety Technologies, Inc. as of May 31, 2005 and the related statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. The financial statements of Flight Safety Technologies, Inc. as of May 31, 2004 and for the year then ended were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations with respect to public companies. Those auditors expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements in their report dated July 7, 2004, except for Note 12 of those financial statements as to which the date was August 12, 2004.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2005 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Flight Safety Technologies, Inc. as of May 31, 2005, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Wolf & Company, P.C.

Boston, Massachusetts
August 18, 2005

F-2

FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Balance Sheets
as of
May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004

2005 2004

Assets

Current assets:
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Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,519,837 $ 2,180,863

Contract receivables 415,617 532,043

Other receivables --- 194,479

Investments held to maturity 4,033,759  4,991,669

Investments available for sale, at fair
value

835,233 1,879,755

Inventory 108,044 ---

Other current assets 51,721 28,840

     Total current assets 7,964,211 9,807,649

Property and equipment, net of accumulated
   depreciation of $328,608 and $216,356 208,562 259,252

Other Assets:

Intangible assets, net of
accumulated
     amortization of $47,377
and $33,969

180,562 149,990

Investments held to maturity 500,002 500,002

           Other receivables 330,010          ---

                 Total other assets 1,010,574 649,992

Total Assets $ 9,183,347 $ 10,716,893

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 589,313 $ 615,911

Accrued expenses 180,340    141,259

     Total current liabilities 769,653    757,170

Stockholders' equity:
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Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value,
     5,000,000 shares authorized, none
issued
     and outstanding

---

Common stock, $0.001 par value,
     50,000,000 shares authorized,
8,331,410
     shares issued

8,331 8,331

Additional paid-in-capital 13,069,863 13,105,863

Treasury Stock, 116,300 shares at
cost

(199,827) ---

Accumulated other comprehensive
loss

(164,023) (119,501)

Unearned stock compensation (4,769) (150,733)

Accumulated deficit (4,295,881) (2,884,237)

     Total stockholders' equity 8,413,694   9,959,723

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

$ 9,183,347 $   10,716,893

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

F-3

FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the Years Ended May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004

2005 2004

Contract Revenues $    3,310,871 $    3,593,784
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Cost of Revenues 2,233,773 2,392,166

Gross Profit 1,077,098 1,201,618

Operating Expenses

Research and development 557,137 170,832

Selling, general and administrative 2,001,871 1,390,801

Depreciation and amortization 125,660 88,053

Total Operating Expenses 2,684,668 1,649,686

Loss From Operations (1,607,570) (448,068)

Other Income (Expense)

Interest income 223,586 39,749

Loss Before Provision For Income Taxes (1,383,984) (408,319)

Provision for income taxes     27,660        15,895

Net Loss (1,411,644) (424,214)

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

       Unrealized (loss) on investments (44,522)  (119,501)

Comprehensive Income (loss) $(1,456,166) $(543,715)

Net Loss Per Share

Basic and diluted $       (.17) $       (.07)

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding
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Basic and diluted 8,217,971 6,194,059

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

F-4

FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity
For Years Ended May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In Treasury

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Unearned
Stock

Compensation
Accumulated

Deficit

Stockholders'
Equity
(Deficit)

Shares Amount Capital Sock

Balance at
   May 31, 2003 14,757,104 $ 14,757 $ 3,687,623 $ -- $ -- $ (96,192) $ (2,460,023) $ 1,146,165

Unearned Stock
   Compensation -- -- 117,500 -- -- (54,541) -- 62,959

Other Comprehensive
   Income (Loss) (119,501) (119,501)

Net proceeds from
   issuance of common
   stock 3,028,600 3,028 7,590,110 -- -- -- -- 7,593,138

Warrants Exercised 850,000 850 1,699,150 -- -- -- -- 1,700,000

Minority Interest 294,129 294 882 -- -- -- -- 1,176

Reverse Stock Split (10,598,423) $ (10,598) 10,598 -- -- -- -- --

Net Loss            --         --             --          --            --           -- (424,214) (424,214)

Edgar Filing: Air Transport Services Group, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents 43



Balance at
   May 31, 2004 8,331,410 $ 8,331 $ 13,105,863 $ -- $ (119,501) $ (150,733) $ (2,884,237) $

9,959,723

Unearned Stock
   Compensation
Other Comprehensive
   Income (Loss)

--

--

--

--

(36,000)

--

--

--

--

(44,522)

145,964

--

--

--

109,964

(44,522)

Purchase of Treasury
   stock -- -- -- (199,827) ) -- -- -- (199,827)

Net loss                 --             --           --         --               --            -- (1,411,644) (1,411,644)

Balance at
   May 31, 2005 8,331,410 $ 8,331 13,069,863 $ (199,827) $ (164,023) $ (4,769) $ (4,295,881) $ 8,413,694

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Statements of Cash Flow
For Years Ended May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004

2005 2004

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss $  (1,411,644) $ (424,214)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
   operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 125,660 88,053

Non-cash compensation - common stock 109,964 62,959

Accretion on investment discounts (87,785) (18,533)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in
contract receivables

116,426 (376,210)

(Increase) in other
receivables

(135,532) (137,620)

(Increase) in other current
assets   

(22,881) (4,112)

(Increase) in inventory (108,044) --

Increase in accounts
payable and accrued
   expense

12,483 384,685

Net cash used in operating activities (1,401,352) (424,992)
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Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of available for sale securities -- (1,999,256)

Proceeds from sale of available for sale securities 1,000,000 --

Purchase of held to maturity securities (9,004,305) (5,473,138)

Proceeds from maturity of held to maturity securities 10,050,000 --

Purchases of property and equipment (61,562) (224,805)

            Payments for patents and other costs (43,980) (29,777)

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities 1,940,153 (7,726,976)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Purchase of treasury stock (199,827) --

Proceeds from issuance of common stock              -- 9,293,138

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities (199,827) 9,293,138

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 338,974 1,141,170

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,180,863 1,039,693

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 2,519,837 $ 2,180,863

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Notes To The Financial Statements
For The Years Ended May 31, 2005 and 2004

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Significant accounting policies followed by Flight Safety Technologies, Inc. (the Company) in determining financial position and the results of operations are as follows:

(a)     Nature of Business

Flight Safety Technologies, Inc. is a Nevada Corporation that was incorporated in May 2001 under the name of Reel Staff, Inc. On June 27, 2003, Flight Safety Technologies Operating Inc., (FSTO) was merged into Flight Safety Technologies, Inc. and Reel Staff, Inc. changed its name to Flight Safety Technologies, Inc.

The Company is engaged in the development of three proprietary sensor technologies: SOCRATES®, UNICORN™ and TIICM.

SOCRATES® (Sensor for Optically Characterizing Ring-eddy Atmospheric Turbulence Emanating Sound) is designed to detect clear air turbulence, microbursts and aircraft generated vortices which result in hazardous conditions to safe air travel.

UNICORN™ (Universal Collision Obviation and Reduced Near-Miss) is a technology that is being designed based upon an arrangement of radar which gives both visual and audible warning indication of approaching aircraft to pilots.

TIICM (Tactical Integrated Illuminating Countermeasure) is a possible solution to the threat of ground fired and hand held missile being fired on aircraft by terrorists.

On May 29, 1997, the Company was awarded its first contract representing Phase I in the amount of $1,326,335, sponsored by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA), to commence the development and "Proof-of-Principle" of SOCRATES®. During the period February 22, 1998 through May 31, 1999, the FAA had added seven modifications to this contract totaling $1,664,821 and increased Phase I to $2,991,156. An additional $4,927,898 was awarded from August 29, 1999 to February 15, 2002 for Phase II of SOCRATES®, and Phase II was further increased by $1,113,550 to $6,041,448 on February 20, 2003. On September 30, 2003, Phase III of SOCRATES® was funded $3,975,004 and on November 30, 2004 Phase III was further increased by $3,237,310 to $7,212,314. As of May 31, 2005, the remaining contract balance for Phase III is $1,718,258.

F-7

FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Notes To The Financial Statements
For The Years Ended May 31, 2005 and 2004

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

The Company's Federal contract, which represents 99% and 100% of the revenues for 2005 and 2004, respectively, was issued and is managed by The Volpe Center of the U.S. Department of Transportation. The Company submits, and receives payment on, monthly invoices, which represent progress payments covering the Company's total direct and indirect costs on the project.
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The Company's primary office is in Mystic, Connecticut, and it also has offices in Baltimore, Maryland; Chicago, Illinois; and North Kingstown, Rhode Island. In addition to its full-time employees, the Company is further supported by a team of consultants and subcontractors, including Lockheed Martin Corporation, with whom the Company has a long-term Teaming Agreement, ICF Consulting Services, British Telecommunications, Information Systems Laboratories, Microwave Solutions and Georgia Tech Applied Research Corporation.

(b)     Revenue and Cost Recognition

Our contracts with the United States government are cost-reimbursable contracts that provide for a fixed profit percentage applied to our actual costs to complete the work. These contracts are subject to audit and adjustment by our customer, and are subject to cost limitations as provided by the contract.

For these contracts, revenue is recorded at the time services are performed based upon actual project costs incurred and include a reimbursement for general, administrative, and overhead costs and the base fee. The general, administrative, and overhead costs are estimated periodically in accordance with government contract accounting regulations and may change based on actual costs incurred subject to approval. Revenue may be adjusted for our estimate of costs that may be categorized as disputed or unallowable as a result of cost overruns or the audit process. Contracting costs include all direct material, labor and subcontracting costs. General and administrative costs are charged to expense as incurred. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which such losses are determined. Changes in job performance, job conditions and estimated profitability and final contract settlements may result in revisions to costs and income and are recognized in the period in which the revisions are determined. Revenue related to claims is recorded at the lesser of actual costs incurred or the amount expected to be realized.

(c)     Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of reporting cash flows, the company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash and cash equivalents.
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

(d)     Marketable Securities

The Company classifies its debt and marketable equity securities into held-to-maturity, trading, or available-for-sale categories according to the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities". Debt securities are classified as held-to-maturity when the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity. Debt securities for which the Company does not have the intent or ability to hold to maturity are classified as available for sale. Held-to-maturity securities are recorded as either short-term or long-term on the balance sheet based on contractual maturity date and are stated at amortized cost. Marketable securities that are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term are classified as trading securities and are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses recognized in earnings. Debt and marketable equity securities not classified as held-to-maturity or as trading are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair market value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, included in the determination of comprehensive income or loss and reported in shareholders' equity. Realized gains and losses on sale of investments are determined on a specific identification basis.

Management evaluates securities for other-than-temporary impairment at least on a quarterly basis and more frequently when economic or market conditions warrant such evaluation. Consideration is given to (1) the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than cost, (2) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, and (3) the intent and ability of the Company to retain its investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value. Securities that have experienced an other-than-temporary decline in value are written down to estimated fair value, establishing a new cost basis with the amount of the write-down expensed as a realized loss.

(e)     Inventory

Inventory represents purchasing of long lead SOCRATES® system components to further expand the system. Inventory is accounted for at lower of cost or market and on the first-in first-out basis.

(f)     Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method. Cost and accumulated depreciation of assets fully depreciated, retired or disposed of are removed from the accounts. Gains and losses are recognized upon disposal of assets. The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to operations as incurred, whereas significant repairs are capitalized.
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(Continued)

Estimated useful lives by asset class is as follows:
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Machinery & equipment          5 years

Furniture & fixtures              5 years

Automobiles                     5 years

Software                        3 years

(g)     Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of patent costs associated with SOCRATES® and UNICORN™. Costs of outside legal counsel related to obtaining new patents are capitalized. Patent costs are being amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of seventeen years from the date incurred or the remaining life of the underlying patent.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, "Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets" (SFAS No. 144) the Company assesses its patents for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate their carrying value may not be recoverable. Such circumstances may include a significant adverse change in legal factors or the business climate that could affect the value of the patents. In determining recoverability, the Company must determine the asset's fair value, which may require Management to make significant assumptions about the future cash generating ability of the asset. If an asset is determined to be impaired, the difference between the asset's fair value and book value is charged to expense in the period the impairment is identified. After an impairment loss is recognized, the adjusted carrying amount of the intangible asset becomes its new basis. Subsequent reversal of a previously recognized impairment loss is prohibited under SFAS No. 144.

(h)     Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company had amounts in excess of $100,000 in a single bank during the year. Amounts over $100,000 are not covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. Concentration of credit risk also exists with respect to contract receivables. This risk is mitigated by the fact that these receivables are due from the United States Government.

(i)     Research and Development

Company sponsored research and development costs, including proposal costs and un-reimbursed expenditures for developmental activities, are charged to operations as incurred.
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(j)     Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. A valuation allowance is provided on deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that some portion of the assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted income tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period of enactment.

(k)     Per Share Data

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. For the years ended May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004, the effect of stock options and warrants was antidilutive; therefore, they were not included in the computation of diluted loss per share. The weighted average number of shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options and warrants that were excluded from the computation as their effect would be antidilutive was 3,052,494 and 2,653,327 for the year ended May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004, respectively.

(l)     Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value of financial instruments has been determined based on the available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, other current assets, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value at May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004, because of the short maturity of these financial instruments.

(m)     Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change in the near term relate to the carrying values of other receivables. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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FLIGHT SAFETY TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Notes To The Financial Statements
For The Years Ended May 31, 2005 and 2004

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(n)     Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method provided for under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" ("APB 25") and related interpretations for stock options issued to employees and directors. Under APB 25, compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period to the extent that the fair market value of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price of the employee stock award on the date of grant. Stock options issued under our stock option plans generally have no intrinsic value at the grant date, and under APB 25 no compensation cost is recognized for them. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, establishes a fair-value-based method of accounting for stock-based compensation plans. The Company has adopted the disclosure-only alternative under SFAS No. 123, which requires the disclosure of the pro forma effects on net loss and net loss per share as if the fair value accounting prescribed by SFAS No. 123 had been adopted.

The following table illustrates the effect on net loss and net loss per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based employee compensation:

Year Ended
May 31, 2005

Year Ended
May 31, 2004

Net loss as reported $<1,411,644> $<424,214>

Add: stock-based employee compensation expense
included in net loss $109,964 $62,959

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under the fair value based method for
all awards $<220,445> $<131,288>

Pro forma net income loss $<1,552,125> $<492,543>

Earnings per share:
     Basic and diluted - as reported
     Basic and diluted - pro forma

$<.17>
$<.19>

$<.07>
$<.08>
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(Continued)

The fair value of each option grant is estimated as of the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following weighted average assumptions were used to value the options granted in the years ended May 31, 2005 and 2004:

2005 2004

Risk-free interest rate 4.75% 3.74%

Expected dividend yield None None

Expected life of options 10 years 3 years

Expected volatility 40% 40%

Weighted-average grant-date fair value $.55 $.31

(o)     Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 123(R), "Share-Based Payment, an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 123 and 95." SFAS No. 123(R) establishes standards for the accounting for transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services or incurs liabilities in exchange for goods or services that are based on the fair value of the entity's equity instruments. SFAS No. 123(R) requires public entities to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award (with limited exceptions) and recognize the cost over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award. Adoption requires a modified prospective application whereby compensation expense is recognized on or after the required effective date for the portion of the outstanding awards for which the requisite service has not yet been rendered, based on the grant-date fair value of those awards, calculated on a basis consistent with the SFAS No. 123 pro forma disclosures (Note 1(n)). The Company will adopt SFAS No. 123 (R) on its effective date, commencing with the quarter beginning June 1, 2006. Actual expense recorded related to these options would be reduced by future forfeitures.
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Note 2 - Contract Receivables and Other Receivables

At May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004 accounts receivable consisted of the following:
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2005 2004

U.S. Government:

     Amounts billed (Contract Receivable) $ 415,617 $ 532,043

     Amounts not billed (Other Receivable)    330,010    194,479

$ 745,627 $726,522

Other receivables include retained fees on Government contracts which represent up to a 15% payment hold back against billable fees, amounts representing differences in actual and provisional overhead and general administrative rates which we expect are recoverable and will be paid by the Government, and other miscellaneous receivables. The aggregate recoverable rate differences as of May 31, 2005 of $291,000 consist of a $158,000 and $133,000 for the years ended May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004 respectively. We believe this amount will be recoverable after consideration of other contract cost differences, some higher and others lower than contracted amounts, when our sponsoring government agency has reviewed our request for what we estimate as recoverable contract cost growth. Under our government contract, we are entitled to receive this amount as long as it is allowable and reasonable and the contracting officer approves the cost growth due to rate adjustments. The portion of other receivables represented by recoverable rate difference also reflects our judgment that we expect the government will have a funding source available to pay us the recoverable rate difference. This source may result from a reallocation of items within our existing contract to reflect actual expenditures, from use of funds available for a subsequent contract, or from reserve sources otherwise available to the government. At May 31, 2005, we do not expect to receive payments for these other receivables in the next year and consider this account a long term asset. The summary below compares the balances for other receivables as of May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004.

2005 2004

Retained fee

     Phase II Socrates $          -- $ 56,392

     Phase III Socrates 39,010 4,583

Recoverable rate difference

     Phase III Socrates 291,000 133,000

Miscellaneous      --      504

Total $330,010 $194,479
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Note 3 - Investments

A summary of investments is as follows:

May 31, 2005

Amortized
Cost

Gross Unrealized
Gains

Gross Unrealized
(Losses)

Fair
Value
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Available for Sale

Mutual bond funds $999,256   $          --           $(164,023)       $   835,233     

Held to Maturity

Corporate bonds $4,033,759 $         --           $    (4,031)       $4,029,728     

U.S. Government securities 500,002          -- (8,282) 491,720

$4,533,761 $         --           $  (12,313)       $4,521,448     

May 31, 2004

Available for Sale

Amortized
Cost

Gross Unrealized
Gains

Gross Unrealized
(Losses)

Fair
Value

Mutual bond funds $1,999,256  $          --           $(119,501)       $1,879,755     

Held to Maturity

Corporate bonds $4,991,669 $   3,251           $            --        $4,994,920     

U.S. Government securities 500,002          --    (7,347)    492,655

$5,491,671 $   3,251           $    (7,347)       $5,487,575     

Contractual maturities of held-to-maturity securities at May 31, 2005, is as follows:

2005 Carrying
Amount

Due in one year or less $4,033,759

Due in 1-5 years      500,002

$4,533,761
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(Continued)

Information pertaining to securities with gross unrealized losses at May 31, 2005 aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous loss position, follows:

Less Than Twelve Months Greater Than Twelve Months

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Mutual bond funds $        --     $        -- $164,023    $835,233   

Corporate bonds 4,031     4,029,728 --    --   

US Government securities   8,282   491,720           --            --

     To ta l  t empora r i ly  impa i red
securities

$12,313     $4,521,448 $164,023    $835,233   

Based on management's review, there were no write-downs of impaired securities in fiscal year 2005. As of May 31, 2005, impairments of our investments in mutual bond funds were deemed to be temporary and related to changes in the ten year treasury rate and the rate of inflation (CPI). Our investment in mutual bond funds consist of common shares of Western Assets / Claymore U.S. Treasury inflation protected securities, with a credit quality average rating of AAA, anticipated yield between 5.25% - 5.75% with full secondary market liquidity. These mutual bond funds were purchased when the ten year treasury rate and the Consumer Price Index (CPI) were both 2.8%. As of May 31, 2005 the ten year treasury rate was 4.3% and CPI 2.5%. The loss is expected to decline as the gap between the ten year treasury rate and CPI rate narrows. We expect this to occur over the next several months based on relevant economic forecasts. Based on our evaluation and the Company's ability and intent to hold these investments for a reasonable period of time sufficient for a forecasted recovery of fair value, the Company does not consider these investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired at May 31, 2005.

Information pertaining to securities with gross unrealized losses at May 31, 2004 aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous loss position, follows:
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(Continued)

Less Than Twelve Months Greater Than Twelve Months

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Mutual bond funds $   119,501    $    879,755 $           --    $            --   

Corporate bonds --    -- --    --   

US Government securities   7,347   492,655           --            --

     Tota l  t emporar i ly  impai red
securities

$126,848    $1,372,410 $           --    $            --   

Note 4 - Property and Equipment

Property and equipment at May 31, 2005 and 2004 are summarized by major classifications as follows:

2005 2004

Machinery and equipment $276,817 $263,832

Furniture and fixtures    12,515       8,007

Automobiles  170,944   134,722

Software    76,894     69,047

 537,170   475,608

Less: accumulated depreciation  328,608   216,356
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$208,562 $259,252

Depreciation expense for the years ended May 31, 2005 and 2004 was $112,252 and $77,432, respectively.
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Note 5 - Intangible Assets

Intangible assets at May 31, 2005 and 2004 consist of patents as follows:

2005 2004

Cost $227,939 $183,959

Less Accumulated Amortization   (47,377)   (33,969)

$180,562 $149,990

Amortization expense for the years ended May 31, 2005 and 2004 was $13,408 and $10,621, respectively. Amortization expense for the next five years is expected to be approximately $13,500 per year.

Note 6 - Related Party Transactions

The Company utilizes the lobbying services of a firm that is wholly-owned by one of the Company's directors. Total expenses related to these services were $105,500 and $96,244 for the years ended May 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. As of May 31, 2005, no fees remained unpaid.
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The Company leases office space in Baltimore, MD from an officer of the Company for $500 per month on a month to month basis. Total rent expense related to this office space was $6,000 for each the years ended May 31, 2005 and 2004.

The Company also utilized one of its stockholders for the performance of legal services associated with the establishment of certain patents and trademarks. The total cost of these services for the years ended May 31, 2005 and 2004 were $2,283 and $29,777, respectively. His firm no longer provides patent work for the Company.

Note 7 - Stockholders' Equity

Common Stock

During the year ended May 31, 2004, 850,000 common stock warrants were exercised at $2.00 resulting in proceeds of $1,700,000, and we acquired the remainder of the common and preferred stock of FSTO (see Note 1-(a)).
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(Continued)

We completed a 3-for-1 reverse stock split effective December 31, 2003. On February 4, 2004, in conjunction with a public underwritten offering, we sold 1,350,000 units at $6.00 per unit, each unit consisting of two shares of common stock and a warrant to purchase one share of common stock at $3.30 a share. On February 13, 2004, we issued an additional 164,300 units at the request of the managing underwriter to cover over-allotments. As a result of these issuances, our common stock outstanding increased by 3,028,600 shares to 8,331,410 shares. We received gross proceeds of $9,085,800 and had expenses for these issuances of $1,492,662 resulting in net proceeds from the issuances of $7,593,138. Below is a summary of shares issued.

Common stock on May 31, 2003
Common stock warrants exercised July 10 to August 8, 2003
Merger shares July 11, 2003 - minority shares tendered
Reverse stock split 3 for 1 - December 31, 2003
Common stock issued - February 4, 2004
Common stock issued - February 13, 2004
Total common stock issued as of May 31, 2005

14,757,104
850,000
294,129

(10,598,423)
2,700,000

      328,600
   8,331,410

Stock Options

Options may be granted from time to time for shares of common stock as determined by the Board of Directors, subject to any applicable shareholder approval requirements. The stock options granted to date vest over a period of up to 36 months and are exercisable for between five and ten years from date of grant. The exercise price is generally established at or above market value of the underlying stock at the date of grant.

Warrants

As of May 31, 2005 and 2004 there are outstanding warrants to purchase 2,020,372 share of common stock consisting of 1,514,300 with an exercise price of $3.30; 270,000 with an exercise price of $3.60; 135,000 with an exercise price of $5.40; and 101,072 with an exercise price of $6.00. All outstanding warrants are exercisable.
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(Continued)

We may redeem our public warrants for $0.25 per warrant, subject to adjustment in the event of a stock split, dividend or the like, upon 30 days notice so long as the last reported sale price per share of our common stock as reported by the principal exchange or trading market on which our common stock trades equals or exceeds $10.00 (subject to adjustment) for twenty consecutive trading days ending on the tenth day prior to the date we give notice of redemption. If we give notice of redemption, holders of our public warrants will be forced to sell or exercise the public warrants they hold or accept the redemption price. The notice of redemption could come at time when, under specific circumstances or generally, it is not advisable or possible to sell or exercise our public warrants.

A summary of the status of our outstanding stock options and warrants as of May 31, 2004 and May 31, 2005 are as follows:

Options
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Warrants
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Balance May 31, 2003 1,773,850 $2.00 1,153,173 $2.00

   Options granted to a director 125,000 2.00 -- --

   Warrants exercised -- -- (850,000) 2.00

   One for three reverse split (1,265,895) -- (202,101) --

   Public offering warrants -- -- 1,514,300 3.30

   Public offering underwriter warrants                 --     --    405,000 4.20

Balance May 31, 2004 632,955 $6.00 2,020,372 $3.62

   Expired (83,334) 6.00 -- --
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   Granted 420,000 3.50 -- --

   Exercised             --     --              --     --

Balance May 31, 2005 969,621 $4,92 2,020,372 $3.62
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(Continued)

The following table summarized information regarding options outstanding and options exercisable at May 31, 2005:

Exercise
Price

Number of
Options

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

Weight
Average

Exercise Price

Number of
Options

Exercisable

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

$6.00 549,621   .43 $6.00 539,205 $6.00

$3.50 420,000 9.50 $3.50 187,500 $3.50

969,621 4.36 $5.00 726,705 $5.36
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Some of these warrants and options may provide antidilution protection to their holders which would result in our issuance of shares in addition to those under the warrant or option, upon the occurrence of sales of our common stock below certain prices, stock splits, redemptions, mergers, and other similar transactions.

Unearned stock compensation results from common stock issued to employees during fiscal year ended May 31, 2002 and options issued to a director during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2004. The balance as of May 31, 2005 of $4,769 will be fully amortized at the end of fiscal quarter ended August 31, 2005.

Note 8 - Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes for the years ending May 31, 2005 and 2004 is as follows:

2005 2004

Current state tax provision $   27,660 $15,895

Deferred tax benefit (495,100) (87,420)

Change in valuation allowance    495,100   87,420

$   27,660 $15,895
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(continued)

The tax effects of temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to deferred taxes as of May 31, 2005 and 2004 are:

                    May 31,                     

2005 2004

Deferred tax assets:

     Net operating loss carry forwards $1,375,000 $ 808,600
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     Property and equipment -- 3,200

     Accrued vacation      22,000      17,400

     Gross deferred tax asset 1,397,000 829,200

     Valuation allowance (1,384,000) (818,700)

   Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance         13,000      10,500

Deferred tax liabilities:

     Property and equipment (3,750) --

     Different book and tax bases of intangible assets (9,250) (10,500)

          Total deferred tax assets (13,000) (10,500)

               Net deferred tax assets (liability) $          -- $            --

Current tax for 2005 and 2004 is due to State taxes on capital. Cash paid for taxes amounted to $23,217 and $0 in 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Company has recorded a valuation allowance of 100% of the net deferred tax asset because it is more likely than not that the asset will not be realized. The Company has Federal and State net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $3,000,000, to reduce future taxable income, if any. The Federal operating losses expire in various years through 2025 and the State operating losses expire in various years through 2010. Use of net operating losses may be subject to limitations based on ownership changes as defined by the Internal Revenue code.
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Note 8 - Income Taxes

(continued)

The reason for the differences between income tax at the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective tax rates are summarized as follows:

2005 2004

Income tax expense (benefit) at statutory rate $   (470,560) $(138,828)

State tax provision, net 18,256 10,491

Meals and entertainment 2,730 2,774

Non deductible lobbying expense 55,710 35,638

Change in valuation allowance and other (1,384,000) (818,700)

Income tax as reported $       27,660 $    15,895

Note 9 - Commitments

The Company has leased two office spaces at $1,625 and $1,000 per month, respectively, in Mystic, Connecticut, which expire on March 31, 2006. The Company also leases office space, on a month to month basis, in Baltimore, Maryland, from an officer of the Company at $500 per month. On April 23, 2004, the Company entered into a lease which was extended on April 27, 2005 for the period of June 1, 2005 to May 31, 2006, for office space in North Kingston, Rhode Island at $1,150 per month. Rent expense was $48,961 and $28,427 for the years ended May 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Minimum future operating lease commitments are $40,050 for the year ending May 31, 2006.

In connection with the transfer of the UNICORN™ technology from Advanced Acoustical Concepts, Inc. (AAC) to the Company, the Company has agreed to pay a lump sum of $150,000 to AAC after we receive revenues from sales of UNICORN products of $1,000,000 and a continuing 3% royalty on all net sales of UNICORN™ products thereafter. As of May 31, 2005 and 2004, no amounts have been paid under this commitment.

The Company has commitments with various firms for lobbying services totaling $180,000 for the next fiscal year.
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Note 10 - Teaming Agreement

In connection with SOCRATES®, the Company has entered into a Teaming Agreement (as defined in the Federal Acquisition Register "FAR") with Lockheed Martin Corporation ("Lockheed"). The Company will act as the primary contractor and Lockheed will function as the primary subcontractor. The agreement is for a ten year period ending in 2007, unless terminated earlier based on specific conditions identified under this agreement. As of May 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company was liable to Lockheed for $319,391 and $412,239, respectively.

Note 11 - Contingencies

Several lawsuits have been filed in the United States District Court for the District of Connecticut, by purchasers of our common stock naming us, certain of our executive officers and directors, and certain underwriters, who sold shares of our common stock to the public, as defendants. The suits assert claims under Section 10b and 20a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder and under Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933. Plaintiffs' complaint alleges Flight Safety Technologies, Inc. omitted material information on reports filed under the 1934 Act, registration statements filed under the 1933 Act and a statement made on its website which made other statements about SOCRATES® false and misleading. The plaintiffs seek unspecified damages on behalf of a purported class of purchasers of our securities. We firmly believe that the claims contained in the complaints are without merit and intend to conduct a vigorous defense in these matters. These lawsuits could be time-consuming and costly and could divert the attention of our management. These lawsuits or any future lawsuits filed against us could harm our business.

On April 26, 2004, in conjunction with the renewal of a nondisclosure agreement, we were advised by Lockheed Martin Corporation that it owns a certain patent which predates our SOCRATES® patent and, according to Lockheed Martin Corporation, contains some intellectual property related to our SOCRATES® patent. We are conducting further discussions with Lockheed Martin Corporation on potential ways to expand and extend the relationship and believe the outcome of such discussions will resolve any intellectual property concerns. We cannot predict or provide any assurance on the outcome of these discussions and whether any outcome will be satisfactory to us.
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